The original documents are located in Box 42, folder "Republican Convention (2)" of the James M. Cannon Files at the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library.

Copyright Notice

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material. Gerald Ford donated to the United States of America his copyrights in all of his unpublished writings in National Archives collections. Works prepared by U.S. Government employees as part of their official duties are in the public domain. The copyrights to materials written by other individuals or organizations are presumed to remain with them. If you think any of the information displayed in the PDF is subject to a valid copyright claim, please contact the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library.

CROWN CENTER HOTEL (816) 474-4400

August 9, 1976

MEMORANDUM FOR:

FROM:

SUBJECT:

JIM CANNON JERRY H. JON Republican National Convention

Kansas City, Missouri

You will accompany the President on board Air Force One to Kansas City, Missouri on Sunday, August 15, 1976. Detailed information regarding departure and baggage call will follow later this week.

A staff manual will be available for you before your departure with detailed convention arrangements, general information about Kansas City, and your identification pass. If you do not have a pass, it may be obtained at the President Ford Convention Committee headquarters in the Crown Center, Second Floor, from August 12-20.

Because the PFC has virtually reached its expenditure limits, funds available for convention activities are extremely tight. We therefore must ask you to pay for your personal room and meal expenses while in Kansas City. Your room expenses will be \$232.00 for the period August 15-20. Please make a check payable to The Convention Account and send it to my office by cob, August 10.

For meals the PFC has arranged for a staff mess at the Crown Center. You may purchase tickets for each meal, or for the entire convention period.

The PFC will pay for your transportation costs to and from Kansas City.

Each senior staff member (Counsellor to the President and Assistant to the President) has been assigned a single room. Wives are welcome. However, each senior staff member must make transportation arrangements for his wife and arrange for meals. Wives may purchase tickets to eat in the staff mess. If your wife accompanies you to Kansas City, hotel costs will be \$143.00 per person for the period August 15-20. Attire for the convention period should include typical clothing for both business and casual activities. There are no formal activities scheduled during the convention. The temperature is in the 90s and humid. There are swimming, tennis and health facilities located in the Crown Center.

R.FORL

Any questions should be directed to this office - ext. 7052.

THE WHITE HOUSE

WASHINGTON

August 13, 1976

MEMORANDUM FOR:

J. CANNON

FROM:

RED CAVANEY

SUBJECT:

THE PRESIDENT & MRS. FORD'S VISIT TO KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI Sunday, August 15, 1976

You are manifested on Air Force One (26000) and are requested to be in the Distinguished Visitor's Lounge at Andrews AFB at 3:45 pm. Air Force One is due to depart Andrews at 4:40 pm and arrive Kansas City at 5:55 pm (CDT). Dinner will be served en route.

BAGGAGE CALL: Place all baggage, unlocked, in West Basement no later than 2:00 pm or take directly to Andrews AFB with you.

ATTIRE: Business Suit.

WEATHER REPORT: Hot and humid, temperature in 90s.

A Detailed Guest & Staff Schedule will be handed out on AF1.

NOTE: For those of you going on to Vail from Kansas City with the President, the temperature in Vail is cool at night. You will not be returning to Washington before going to Vail.

THE VICE PRESIDENT

WHITE PLAINS TO KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

SATURDAY, AUGUST 14, 1976

- 6:20 PM Depart Pocantico by helicopter for Westchester County Airport.
- 6:30 PM Depart Westchester County Airport via VC-9 for Kansas City, Missouri. (Flying Time - 2 hours, 40 minutes less 1 hour -DINNER on Board).

(NOTE: The VC-9 departs Andrews AFB at 3:40 PM enroute White Plains)

- 8:10 PM Arrive Kansas City Airport and proceed by motorcade to the Crown Center Hotel.
- 8:25 PM Arrive Crown Center Hotel OVERNIGHT.

DRESS: BUSINESS SUIT

8/12/76

R. FORM

August 15, 1976

MEMORANDUM FOR:FORD ADVOCATESFROM:COMMUNICATIONS OFFICESUBJECT:KANSAS CITY TALKING POINTS

Stu Spencer has asked that these materials be sent to you for your personal use during the next few days.



TALKING POINTS

1. A pronounced shift in psychology and enthusiasm has occurred this past week in Kansas City. The President's forces are up, his adversaries down. A procession of Presidential wins in the key Convention Committees -- Rules and Platform -- has shown not simply a clear Presidential edge in delegate strength, but also superior discipline, better organization, tight unity, plus also a rising determination on the part of all delegates to prevent a Party blood bath that could cost the election.

2. Every sign points to a Presidential victory Wednesday night. Independent analysts (e.g. Newsweek's August 16th issue) now agree with conservative Ford estimates of enough delegates to win and a nearly 100 vote margin over Governor Reagan. In recent days Reagan maneuvers have told the same story -- an increasing frenzy of desperate thrusts striving for last-minute confusion, disruptions and delays that might steal away a few Ford partisans. The Vice President gambit to force the President's hand was as desperate as the ill-fated Schweicker choice which forced the gambit. The Platform Committee failures forced the Rules Committee struggles which also having failed appear likely to force a last stand on the Convention floor.

3. So the ambience of Kansas City is basically healthy and heartening: clearly, a Presidential win impends; clearly, irreparable Party rights have thus far been averted; clearly, a campaign-seasoned candidate, President Ford, will go forth with the backing of united and invigorated Republicans all across the country. The augury is therefore, a good one, despite the temporary Carter-Mondale lead in public opinion polls.

4. The augury is good because the President has been a good President -- because he personifies decency and honesty -because he has restored confidence in White House integrity -because, after all, America is at peace and is prospering, and the record of achievement is a proud one.

5. And this is a propitious time because Mr. Carter can only shrivel in public esteem. His national inexperience is a conceded fact -- and we have learned before the cost of on-the-job training in the Presidency. His equivocations and straddles and contradictions are approaching a national joke, except that the public won't let him reach election day without declaring himself. And as he does, his selfinflated balloon will collapse. 6. So we Ford partisans are all upbeat, and very soon all Republicans the Reaganites too, will feel the same way. For we're to have a great candidate with a great record, and a vulnerable, inexperienced opponent. We're on to victory in November 1976.

- 2 -

7. One-liners

a. On Ford's Vice President choice: Don't worry about it; the person he picks is bound to be left of Reagan and right of Schweicker, so we'll all be content.

b. On timing of Vice Presidential choice: The effort of the Reagan forces only shows that misery loves company.

c. On Platform fights on the floor: Nothing devastating in store; some sparring, perhaps, but reason will prevail.

d. <u>On Buckley</u>: He draws down on Reagan, not Ford.

e. On President's campaigning ability: He'll do just fine; I'll put my money on his everyman frankness as against Carter's deliberate fuzz. And I'll choose his national experience over peanut farming.



COST OF CARTER'S PLATFORM

The Carter program includes something for everyone--including the taxpayer. Not surprisingly, everyone has been told what's in the Carter program for them -- except the taxpayer.

Carter says he will never tell a lie -- but he hasn't committed to tell the people the whole truth -and, so far, he hasn't.

The whole truth is that the Carter program would require a huge tax increase -- exactly how much is difficult to determine because Carter "commitments" often turn to mush when they are examined carefully -- you may think you heard him make a commitment, but when you examine the words carefully you discover he left himself a loophole -a way to say later on -- to a different group -- I didn't really mean it.

Even with this difficulty, it is possible to put a price tag on part of the Carter program.

New taxpayers payments to the Federal Government for just 5 of the 62 new spending "commitments" by Carter comes to \$103.3 billion; which would mean a 51% increase in individual and corporate income taxes.

The five programs and their estimated costs are:

(First Full Year Federal Expenditures)	Dillions
Mondale/Brademus Child Development Program	Billions \$1.1
Humphrey/Hawkins	\$10.3
Kennedy/Corman, National Health Insurance	\$70
Griffith's negative income tax	\$9.9
Perkins, education equalization bill	<u>\$12.0</u> \$103.3

If candidate Carter doesn't agree with these estimates he should tell us what his estimates are, and while he's at it, he should tell us what his other programs will do to the taxpayers.

President Ford Committee

1828 L STREET, N.W., SUITE 250, WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036 (202) 457-6400

Date Issued: August 15, 1976

(**Notes Schedule Additions and Changes)

SCHEDULE FOR CONVENTION ACTIVITES August 15-20, 1976 TIME EVENT DATE Welcoming Rally for the President and Mrs. 5:30 P.M. SUNDAY Ford. Vice President Rockefeller, Jack Ford, AUGUST 15 Susan Ford, Steve Ford, and White House and PFC Staffs will greet. MONDAY 8:00 A.M. PFC Convention Staff Meeting. Location: The Unfinished Room. (Stan Anderson) AUGUST 16 Jim Baker Staff Meeting. Location: 8:00 A.M. 17th Floor Conference Room. 8:00 A.M. Breakfast Meeting in honor of the Massachusetts Delegation hosted by Honorable Elliott Richardson. Invitation only. Location: Holiday Inn-KCI 8:00 A.M.-Breakfast Meeting hosted by the Christian Science 9:30 A.M. Monitor. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. 8:00 A.M. Breakfast in honor of the Texas Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Glenwood Manor. (Georganne Hedges) 8:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Hawaii Delegation. Location: Crown Center Centennial Room B. The President and Jack Ford will participate. (Bill Nicholson) 8:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Tennessee Delegation. Location: Hilton Inn, Empire Room A. (Bill Nicholson)

The President Ford Committee, Rogers C. B. Morton, Chairman, Robert C. Moot, Treasurer. A copy of our Report is filed with the Federal Election Commission and is available for purchase from the Federal Election Commission, Washington, D.C. 20463.

DATE	TIME	EVENT
MONDAY AUGUST 16	8:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Maine Delegation Location: Holiday Inn-Overland Park. (Bill Nicholson)
	8:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Vermont Delegation. Location: President Hotel, Walnut Room. (Bill Nicholson)
	8:00 A.M.	Brunch in honor of D.C. Delegation hosted by Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Holiday Inn-Municipal. (Georganne Hedges)
	8:30 A.M.	Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center. Location: Unfinished Room. (Senator Griffin)
	8:30 A.M. *	* Breakfast in honor of the New York Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Steve Ford will attend. Location: Continental Hotel. (Georganne Hedges)
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Kentucky Delegation. Location: Ramada Inn Southwest Ballroom. (Bill Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Missouri Delegation. Location: Holiday Inn-Downtown. (Bill Nicholson)
84576 meetin 9:5-1811	ч 9:00 А.М.	Breakfast Meeting hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
B.J. 1811	9:30 A.M.	State and Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center Unfinished Room. (Senator Griffin)
	9:30 A.M.	PFC Press Conference. Crown Center, Century Room (Tentative)
	<u>10:30 A.M.</u>	<u>CONVENTION SESSION 1</u> Kemper Arena. Major business of this session will be welcoming speeches, official action on Convention Committees, election of Temporary Chairman.
	12:00 Noon **	Reception and luncheon hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. Jack Ford will attend. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
	1:00 P.M 2:00 P.M.	Luncheon hosted by NEWSWEEK Magazine. Invitation only. Location: Crown Center, 'Top of the Crown'.
	2:00 P.M ** 5:00 P.M.	Reception honoring Senator Edward Brooke, hosted by the National Black Republican Council. Jack Ford will attend. Location: River Hills Penthouse Suite.

-2-

•

4

•

DATE

EVENT

TIME

MONDAY AUGUST 16 2:00 P.M. **PFC Caucus Team meets with Kansas Delegation. Susan Ford will participate. LocatioN: Holiday Inn-Municipal. (Bill Nicholson)

- 3:00 P.M.-**Reception for PFC Youth (Presidentials) at 5:00 P.M. Crown Center. Mrs. Ford, Jack, Susan and Steve Ford will attend. (Bill Nicholson)
- 3:00 P.M.- Meeting of <u>Convention Committee on Credentials</u>. 5:00 P.M. Location: Radisson Muehlebach (RNC)
- 3:00 P.M.- Meeting of <u>Convention Committee on Rules and</u> 5:00 P.M. <u>Order of Business</u>. Location: Continental Hotel. (RNC)
- 3:00 P.M. Meeting of <u>Convention Committee on Permanent</u> 5:00 P.M. <u>Organizations</u>. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. (RNC)
- 3:00 P.M.- Meeting on the <u>Convention Committee on</u> 5:00 P.M. <u>Resolutions (PLatform)</u>. Executive Session. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. (RNC)
- 4:00 P.M.-**Century Club Reception hosted by the 6:00 P.M. National Republican Heritage Groups (Nationalities) Council. Jack and Susan Ford will attend. Invitation only. Location: Raquet Club.
- 5:00 P.M. Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center. Congressional Board Room. 5th Floor (Senator Griffin)
- 5:00 P.M. **Reception hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. 7:00 P.M. The Vice President will attend. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
- 5:00 P.M. **Reception for Republican Governors, Members of 7:00 P.M. Congress and Chairmen of State Delegations hosted by Congressman JOhn Rhodes. The President, Mrs. Ford and Vice President Rockefeller will attend. Invitation only. Location:Radisson Muehlebach (RNC)
- 5:00 P.M.- Reception in honor of the Kansas Delegation. 7:00 P.M. Invitation only. Location: Livestock Exchange Bldg.
- 7:00 P.M. CONVENTION SESSION II

Kemper Arena. Session II is highlighted by the Keynote Address delivered by Senator Howard Baker. The Temporary Chairman will receive the gavel from RNC Chairman Mary Louise Smith.

r ∰ F ⊖∫_

DATE	TIME	EVENT
MONDAY AUGUST 16	8:30 P.M.	'Second Union Station Massacre' party hosted by the Jackson, Clay and Platte County Young Republicans. Location: Union Station. Open to public. Admission charge.
	8:30 P.M.	'After Convention Session Party' in honor of the Oklahoma Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Ramada Inn-KCI. (Georganne Hedges)
	8:30 P.M.	Dance/Disco for PFC Youth (Presidentials) at Kansas City Trade Mart. (John Venners)
	all day	Women for President Ford Hospitality Suite. Location: Rm. 1639–1940 Crown Center. (Elly Peterson)
<u>TUESDAY</u> AUGUST 17	8:00 A.M.	PFC Convention Staff Meeting. Crown Center. 'The Unfinished Room'. (Stan Anderson)
	8:00 A.M.*	*Jim Baker Staff Meeting. 17th Floor Conference Room.
• •	8:00 A.M 5:00 P.M.	Political Action Committee Seminar. (There will be a reception and luncheon at 11:30 a.m.) Location: Phillips Hotel. (RNC)
	8:30 A.M.	Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
	9:00 A.M.	Breakfast Meeting hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with North Carolina Delega- tion. Location: Holiday Inn-Sports Complex. (Bill Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Louisiana Delegation. Location: Ramada Inn-KCI, Ballroom. (Bill Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.*	*PFC Caucus Team meets with New York Delegation. Location: Continental Hotel, Bingham Room, 5th Floor. Jack Ford will participate. (Bill Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.	Breakfast in honor of the Hawaii Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Travel Lodge-KCI

- 4 -

.

• •

T	IME	EVENT

TUESDAY AUGUST 17

DATE

- 9:15 A.M. Breakfast in honor of Senator Howard Baker hosted by David K. Wilson. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
 - 9:30 A.M. PFC Press Conference. Crown Center, Century Room. (Tentative)
 - 9:30 A.M. State and Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center. Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
 - 10:00 A.M. Brunch in honor of the Washington State Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Saddle and Sirloin Club, Shawnee Mission, Kansas. (Georganne Hedges)
 - PFC Caucus Team meets with Mississippi Delegation. 10:00 A.M. Location: Ramada Inn East. (Bill Nicholson)
 - 10:00 A.M.**PFC Caucus Team meets with Iowa Delegation. Steve Ford will participate. Location: Prom Sheraton. (Bill Nicholson)
 - 10:00 A.M.**PFC Caucus Team meets with Minnesota and Rhode Island Delegations. Susan Ford will participate. Location: Holiday Inn-Downtown, Commodore Room. (Bill Nicholson)
 - 10:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Indiana Delegation. Location: Quality Inn East. (Bill Nicholson)

10:30 A.M.-*National Federation of Republican Women Brunch. 1:00 P.M. Mrs. Ford is Guest of Honor. Mrs. Ford and Susan will attend. Invitation only. Location: Alameda Plaza (RNC)

- Brunch in honor of the West Virginia Delegation 10:30 A.M. hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: INdian Hills Country Club in Shawnee Mission, Kansas. (Georganne Hedges)
- 11:00 A.M.**PFC Caucus Team meets with Illinois Delegation. The President will participate. LOcation: Hilton Plaza Inn, Regency Ballroom. (Bill Nicholson)
- 12:00 Noon Reception and luncheon hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.

12:00 Noon**Reception and luncheon hosted by the New York 2:00 P.M. Times. Invitation only. Jack Ford will attend. Location: Radisoon Muehlebach.

-5-

DATE

TUESDAY AUGUST 17

EVENT

TIME

- 1:00 P.M. Reception in honor of Florida Delegation hosted by Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Private home, (phone 891-8808) (Georganne Hedges)
- 2:00 P.M.- National Black Republican Council Panel on 5:00 P.M. Black Employment. Location: President Hotel.
- 2:30 P.M.- Reception for Republican Mayors hosted by 5:00 P.M. Kansas City Mayor Charles Wheeler. Invitation only. Location: Truman Library in Independence.
- 3:00 P.M.**Tea and Special Bicentennial Exhibit for Women 5:00 P.M. Delegates and Alternates and Wives of Delegates and Alternates hosted by the Women's Auxiliary of the Kansas City Museum. Invitation only. Susan Ford will attend. Location: Kansas City Museum of History and Science.
- 3:00 P.M** PFC Caucus Team meets with West Virginia Delegation. The President will participate. Location: Western Hills, Merriam, Kansas. (Bill Nicholson)
- 3:30 P.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with New Hampshire Delegation. Location: Holiday Inn-Blue Parkway. (Bill Nicholson)
- 4:00 P.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Virginia Delegation. Location: Sheraton Hotel in Grandview, Missouri. (Bill Nicholson)
- 4:00 P.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Delaware Delegation. Location: Ramada Inn-KCI, Capetown Room. (Bill Nicholson)
- 4:00 P.M** Republican Women's Task Force Reception. 6:30 P.M. Mrs. Ford will attend. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
- 4:00 P.M** Entertainment Program hosted by the Young 7:00 P.M. Republican National Federation. Susan Ford will attend. Location: Municipal Auditorium and Music Hall.
- 4:30 P.M. Reception in honor of Black Ford delegates. Invitation only. Location: Crown Center

4:30 P.M. "Victory '76" Reception hosted by Pennsylvania State Central Committee. Invitation only. Location: Crown Center, Garden Terrace.

-6-

-7-KC

DATE	TIME	EVENT
TUESDAY AUGUST 17	5:00 P.M.	Regional Whips Meeting. Location: Crown Center, Congressional Board Room. 5th Floor (Senator Griffin)
	5:30 P.M. **	Reception hosted by Crosby Kemper, Jr. Invita- tion only. Location: Kansas City Club, 1228 Baltimore Avenue. (Georganne Hedges)
	6:00 P.M 8:00 P.M.	Reception in honor of the Wisconsin Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Prom Sheraton. (Georganne Hedges)
	<u>7:00 P.M.</u>	CONVENTION SESSION III - Kemper Arena
		This session will cover the reports of the various committees: <u>Credentials, Rules and</u> Order of Business, <u>Permanent Organization</u> , and <u>Resolutions (Platform</u>). <u>Permanent</u> Chairman Congressman John Rhodes will receive the gavel from the Temporary Chairman.
i	8:00 P.M. **	PFC Youth (Presidentials) President Ford Night. Location: Uptown Theatre, 3700 Broadway (John Venners)
	all day	Women for President Ford Hospitality Suite. Location: Crown Center, Room 1639-1640. (Elly Peterson)
WEDNESDAY AUGUST 18	8:00 A.M.	PFC Convention Staff Meeting. Crown Center, Centennial Room B. (Stan Anderson)
	8:00 A.M. **	Jim Baker Staff Meeting. 17th Floor Conference Room.
	8:00 A.M.	Prayer Breakfast, sponsored by Campus Crusade for Christ. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
	8:30 A.M.	Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center, Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
	8:30 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Ohio Delegation. Location: Sheraton Royal, Ballroom. (B. Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Connecticut Delegation. Location: Holiday Inn-Worlds of Fun. (B. Nicholson
	9:00 A.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Oregon Delegation. Location: Ramada Inn-Stadium. (Bill Nicholson)
	9:00 A.M.	Breakfast Meeting hosted by TIME, Inc. Invita- tion only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.

D	A	Т	E

TIME

EVENT

<u>WEDNESDAY</u> AUGUST 18	9:00 A.M National Federation of Republican Women Seminar 12:00 Noon Location: Radisson Muehlebach.	•
	9:30 A.M. PFC Press Conference. Crown Center. Century	

- Room.(Tentative)
- 9:30 A.M. State and Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center, Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
- 10:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with North Dakota Delegation. Location: Rodeway Inn North, Armour Room. (Bill Nicholson)
- 10:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Wyoming Delegation. Location: Marriott Hotel. (Bill Nicholson)
- 10:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Maryland Delegation. Location: Howard Johnson East. (Bill Nicholson)
- 10:00 A.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Colorado Delegation. Location: Rodeway Inn, Overland Park. (Bill Nicholson)
- 10:30 A.M. Brunch in honor of the Massachusetts Delegation and Media hosted by Senator Edward Brooke. Invitation only. Location: Holiday Inn-KCI
- 12:00 Noon- United Republican Victory Luncheon hosted by 2:00 P.M. the Republican National Finance Committee. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. (RNC)
- 12:00 Noon**Luncheon in honor of the Utah Delegation hosted by the Kansas City Host Committee. Invitation only. Location: Ramada Inn in Lawrence, Kansas.
- 12:00 Noon Reception and luncheon hosted by TIME, Inc. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. Invitation only.
- 2:00 P.M.-National Black Republican Council Panel on 5:00 P.M. Black Economic Development. Location: President Hotel.
- 2:30 P.M. PFC Caucus Team meets with Michigan Delegation. Location: Crown Center, Centennial Room B. (Bill Nicholson)

-8-

DATE	TIME	EVENT
WEDNESDAY AUGUST 18	3:00 P.M.	PFC Caucus Team meets with Florida Delegation. Location: Marriott Hotel. (Bill Nicholson)
	3:00 P.M 5:00 P.M.	Tea and Special Bicentennial Exhibit in honor of the Women Delegates and Alternates and Wives of Delegates and Alternates hosted by the Women's Auxiliary of the Kansas City Museum. Invitation only. Location: Kansas City Museum of History and Science.
	4:30 P.M.	Regional Whips Meeting. Location: Crown Center, Congressional Board Room-5th Floor. (Senator Griffin)
	5:00 P.M.	Reception in honor of Pennsylvania and New Jersey Delegations. Invitation only. Location: Crown Center Centennial Rooms A&B.
	<u>7:00 P.M.</u>	CONVENTION SESSION IV
		Kemper Arena. This session will have as its major order of business the nomination of a candidate for President. The new Republican National Committee will be elected.
	10:00 P.M. **	PFC Youth (Presidentials) Torchlight rally in front of Crown Center Hotel. (John Venners)
	all day	Women for President Ford Hospitality Suite. Crown Center, Room 1639–1640. (Elly Peterson)
<u>THURSDAY</u> AUGUST 19	8:00 A.M.	PFC Convention Staff Meeting. Crown Center, 'The Unfinished Room.' (Stan Anderson)
	8:00 A.M. **	Jim Baker Staff Meeting. 17th Floor Conference Room.
	8:30 A.M.	Regional Whips Meetings. Crown Center, Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
	8:30 A.M.	President Ford Finance Committee breakfast meeting. Invitation only. Location: Crown Center, Centennial Room B. (Bob Mosbacher - Max Fisher)
	9:00 A.M.	Breakfast Meeting hosted by TIME, Inc. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. Invitation only.
n San San San San San San San San San San San San San	9:30 A.M.	State and Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center, Centennial Room A. (Senator Griffin)
	12:00 Noon	Reception and Luncheon hosted by TIME, Inc. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.
	3:00 P.M 5:00 P.M.	National Black Republican Council Reception. Location: President Hotel.

.

.

.

DATE

<u>THURSDAY</u> AUGUST 19 TIME

EVENT

4:00 P.M. National Federation of Republican Women Reception. Invitation only. Location: Radisson Muehlebach.

5:00 P.M. Regional Whips Meeting. Crown Center, Congressional Board Room. 5th Floor. (Senator Griffin)

6:30 P.M. CONVENTION SESSION V

Kemper Arena. Major business will be the nomination of candidates for Vice President and the election of the Republican Vice Presidential Nominee. The Vice Presidential Nominee and the Presidential Nominee will deliver acceptance speeches.

10:00 P.M.**"On To Victory" Party. Location: Crown Center 1:00 A.M. Ballroom. (John Venners)

- all day Women for President Ford Hospitality Suite. Crown Center Room 1639-1640. (Elly Peterson)
- FRIDAY, AUGUST 20
- 8:00 A.M. Organizational Meeting of the Republican National Committee. Invitation only. Reception and luncheon tentative. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. (RNC)
- 10:30 A.M. Meeting of the Republican National Finance Committee. Invitation only. Reception and luncheon tentative. Location: Radisson Muehlebach. (RNC)
- 12:00 NOON Meeting of the Young Republican National Federation. Location to be determined.
- 2:00 P.M. PFC CHarter Plane departs Kansas City International Airport.
- 5:00 P.M. PFC Charter Plane arrives Washington National (EDT) Airport.
- NOTE: August 10-19, the National League of Cities, US Conference of Mayors, and Republican Governors' Conference will sponsor a Hospitality Suite at the West End Hotel, located across from the Kemper Arena.

WITHDRAWAL SHEET (PRESIDENTIAL LIBRARIES)

FORM OF DOCUMENT	CORRESPONDENTS OR TITLE	DATE	RESTRICTION
Schedule	Detailed Guest and Staff Schedule (6 page)	8/15/1976	С

File Location:

James M. Cannon Files, Box 42, Republican Convention, August 9-17, 1976 / TMH / 5/19/2015

RESTRICTION CODES

(A) Closed by applicable Executive order governing access to national security information.

(B) Closed by statute or by the agency which originated the document.

(C) Closed in accordance with restrictions contained in the donor's deed of gift.

NATIONAL ARCHIVES AND RECORDS ADMINISTRATION

NA FORM 1429 (1-98)

THE VICE PRESIDENT

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

SUNDAY, AUGUST 15, 1976

10:55	AM	Depart Suite, Crown Center, for Multimedia Forum, Crown Center.
11:00	AM	Arrive Multimedia Forum, Crown Center for preparation for TV Show.
11:30	AM	MEET THE PRESS, Live TV (shown at 12:30 EDT). (John Sears will be interviewed during the first half of the show; <u>THE VICE PRESIDENT</u> during the second half).
12:30	PM	Depart Studios for Suite.
12:40	PM	Arrive Suite for CBS TAPED INTERVIEW WITH BRUCE MORTON (to be shown on CBS Morning News, Monday, August 16).
1:00	PM	Interview Concludes - STAFF TIME.
4:00	PM	Depart Crown Center Hotel by car for the Nelson Art Gallery.
4:15	PM	Arrive Nelson Art Gallery for PRIVATE SHOWING OF CHINESE EXHIBIT.
5:00	PM	RECEPTION, Nelson Art Gallery, hosted by Governor and Mrs. Kit Bond and the Missouri Republican Host Committee.
5:40	PM	Depart Nelson Art Gallery by car for the Crown Center Hotel.
5:55	PM	Arrive Crown Center Hotel lobby.
6:00	PM	GREET THE PRESIDENT upon arrival in Lobby. (President Ford will speak briefly and informally - LIVE TV Coverage).
6:20	PM	Escort The President to his Suite.
Approx		
		Depart Crown Center by car for the Continental Hotel.
6:45	PM	Arrive Continental Hotel for the NEW YORK STATE DELEGATION CAUCUS MEETING.
7:30	PM	Proceed to the Grand Ballroom, Continental Hotel, for the NEW YORK STATE DELEGATION RECEPTION.
9:00	PM	Depart Continental Hotel by car for the Radisson Muehlebach.
9:15	PM	Arrive Radisson Muehlebach for DROP-IN at the REPUBLICAN ROUND-UP, sponsored by the National Republican Senatorial Committee (Senators Stevens, Dole and Pearson).
9:45 10:00	PM PM	Depart Radisson Muehlebach by car for the Crown Center. Arrive Crown Center Hotel and proceed to Suite - OVERNIGHT.



THE WHITE HOUSE

August 17, 1976

TO: JIM CANNON

FROM: MIKE DUVAL

Iliho

Here is a copy of the proposed Platform as adopted by the Committee on Resolutions.



Platform

Proposed by the committee on Resolutions to the

Republican National Convention

August 16, 1976, Kansas City, Missouri



TABLE OF CONTENTS

8114

PREAMBLE 1	
JOBS AND INFLATION 5	
TAXES AND GOVERNMENT SPENDING 7	
AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT 8	
SMALL BUSINESS10	
ANTI-TRUST	
BUREAUCRATIC OVERREGULATION11	
GOVERNMENT THAT WORKS	
A SAFE AND JUST SOCIETY16	
THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY18	
THE AMERICAN FAMILY19	
EDUCATION21	
HEALTH	
CHILD NUTRITION24	
EQUAL RIGHTS AND ENDING DISCRIMINATION25	
HANDICAPPED CITIZENS28	
WORKING AMERICANS	
WELFARE REFORM	
OLDER AMERICANS	
VETERANS	
A NATIONAL URBAN STRATEGY	
HOUSING	
TRANSPORTATION	
ENERGY40	
ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES43	
SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY45	
ARTS AND HUMANITIES46	
FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY	

CORRECTIONS

1. In the last paragraph on page 21, which begins "Primary responsibility," delete the word "Primary." 2. Delete the word "Total" from the third sentence in that same paragraph which is found at the top of page 22.

*

FOREIGN POLICY, NATIONAL DEFENSE AND

AIDIMATIONAL ECONOMIC FOLICE	U
Prologue4	8
National Defense4	9
NATO and Europe	1
Asia and the Pacific	3
United States Relations with China5	5
The Americas	5
The Middle East	7
Africa	8
United States-Soviet Relations59	9
International Cooperation6	2
International Economic Policy64	4
Conclusion	5

4.0

PREAMBLE

To you, an American citizen:

You are about to read the 1976 Republican Platform. We hope you will also find time to read the Democrats' Platform. Compare. You will see basic differences in how the two parties propose to represent you.

"The Platform is the Party's contract with the people." This is what it says on the cover of the official printing of the Democrat Platform. So it should be. The Democrats' Platform repeats the same thing on every page: more government, more spending, more inflation. Compare. This Republican Platform says exactly the opposite—less government, less spending, less inflation. In other words, we want you to retain more of your own money, money that represents the worth of your labors, to use as you see fit for the necessities and conveniences of life.

No matter how many statements to the contrary that Mr. Carter makes, he is firmly attached to a contract with you to increase vastly the powers of government. Is bigger government in Washington really what you want?

Make no mistake: you cannot have bigger programs in Washington and less government by Washington. You must choose.

What is the cost of these added or expanded programs? The Democrats' Platform is deliberately vague. When they tell you, as they do time after time, that they will "expand federal support," you are left to guess the cost. The price tag of five major Democrat Platform promises could add as much as \$100 billion to the annual cost of government. But the Democrats' Platform proposes over 60 new or expanded spending programs and the expansion or creation of some 22 Washington agencies, offices or bureaus. In fact, the total of all Democrat proposals can be as high as \$200 billion a year. While this must be a rough estimate, it does give you a clue to the magnitude and direction of these commitments. The Democrats' Platform can increase federal spending by 50 percent. If a Democrat Congress passes the Democrat Platform and it is signed by a Democrat President, what happens then? The Democrats could raise your taxes by 50 percent to pay for the new programs. Or the Democrats could not raise taxes and the result would be a

1

runaway inflation. Of course, contract or no contract, the Democrats may not honor their promises. Are you prepared to risk it?

In stark contrast to the Democrats' Platform, we offer you a responsive and moderate alternative based on these principles:

• We believe that liberty can be measured by how much freedom you have to make your own decisions even your own mistakes. Government must step in when your liberties impinge on your neighbor's. Government must protect your constitutional rights. Government must deal with other governments and protect you from aggressors. Government must assure equal opportunity. And government must be compassionate in caring for those citizens who are unable to care for themselves.

• Our federal system of local-state-national government is designed to sort out on what level these actions should be taken. Those concerns of a national character —such as air and water pollution that do not respect state boundaries or the national transportation system or efforts to safeguard your civil liberties—must, of course, be handled on the national level.

• As a general rule, however, we believe that government action should be taken first by the government that resides as close to you as possible. Governments tend to become less responsive to your needs the farther away they are from you. Thus, we prefer local and state government to national government, and decentralized national government wherever possible.

• We also believe that you, often acting through voluntary organizations, should have the opportunity to solve many of the social problems of your community. This spirit of freely helping others is uniquely American and should be encouraged in every way by government.

• Every dollar spent by government is a dollar earned by you. Government must always ask: Are your dollars being wisely spent? Can we afford it? It is not better for the country to leave your dollars in your pocket?

• Your elected officials, their appointees, and government workers are expected to perform their public acts with honesty, openness, diligence, and special integrity. At the heart of our system must be confidence that these people are always working for you. • We believe that your initiative and energy create jobs, our standard of living and the underlying economic strength of the country. Government must work for the goal of justice and the elimination of unfair practices, but no government has yet designed a more productive economic system or one which benefits as many people.

• The beauty of our land is our legacy to our children. It must be protected by us so that they can pass it on intact to their children.

• The United States must always stand for peace and liberty in the world and the rights of the individual. We must form sturdy partnerships with our allies for the preservation of freedom. We must be ever willing to negotiate differences, but equally mindful that there are American ideals that cannot be compromised. Given that there are other nations with potentially hostile designs, we recognize that we can reach our goals only while maintaining a superior national defense that is second to none.

We support these principles because they are right, knowing full well that they will not be easy to achieve. Acting with restraint is most difficult when confronted by an opposition Congress that is determined to promise everything to everybody. And this is what the Democrat Congress has been doing. A document, such as this Platform, which refuses to knuckle under to special interest groups, will be accused of being "uncaring." Yet it is exactly because we do care about your basic freedom to manage your own life with a minimum of government interference, because we do care about encouraging permanent and meaningful jobs, because we do care about your getting paid in sound dollars, because we do care about resisting the use of your tax dollars for wasteful or unproven programs-it is for these reasons that we are proposing only actions that the nation can afford and are opposing excessive tinkering with an economic system that works better than any other in the world.

Our great American Republic was founded on the principle: "one nation under God, with liberty and justice for all." This bicentennial year marks the anniversary of the greatest secular experiment in history: That of seeking to determine that a people are truly capable of self-government. It was our "Declaration" which put the world and posterity on notice "that Men are . . . endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights" and that those rights must not be taken from those to whom God has given them. Recently, Peggy Pinder, a 23-year-old student from Grinnell, Iowa, who is a delegate to this convention, said that she joined our party "because Republicans understand the place of government in the people's lives better than the Democrats. Republicans try to find ways to take care of needs through the private sector first while it seems automatic for Democrats to take care of them through the governmental system."

The perception of Peggy Pinder governs this Platform. Aren't these the principles that you want your elected representatives to have?

The bar and American Bauthit will builded on the minimum and American Bauthit will build on the one of the result work of the bar of the eary of the result senior cost will be able of selling to determine that a propie are truly explain a big provide the result senior set in the selling we menter the set of the section from the work and conserve the set of the section from the work and conserve the set of the section from the set of the bar of the menter of the set of the section from the section of the section of the section from the set of the bar of the menter of the set of the section from the set of the bar of the menter of the section from the set of the set of the section of the section from the set of the set of the bar of the menter of the set of the menter of the set of t

JOBS AND INFLATION

We believe it is of paramount importance that the American people understand that the number one destroyer of jobs is inflation. We wish to stress that the number one cause of inflation is the government's expansion of the nation's supply of money and credit needed to pay for deficit spending. It is above all else deficit spending by the federal government which erodes the purchasing power of the dollar. Most Republicans in Congress seem to understand this fundamental causeand-effect relationship and their support in sustaining over 40 Presidential vetoes in the past two years has prevented over \$13 billion in federal spending. It is clear that most of the Democrats do not understand this vital principle, or, if they do, they simply don't care.

Inflation is the direct responsibility of a spendthrift Democrat-controlled Congress that has been unwilling to discipline itself to live within our means. The temptation to spend and deficit spend for political reasons has simply been too great for most of our elected politicians to resist. Individuals, families, companies and most local and state governments must live within a budget. Why not Congress?

Republicans hope every American realizes that if we are permanently to eliminate high unemployment, it is essential to protect the integrity of our money. That means putting an end to deficit spending. The danger, sooner or later, is runaway inflation.

Wage and price controls are not the solution to inflation. They attempt to treat only the symptom—rising prices—not the cause. Historically, controls have always been a dismal failure, and in the end they create only shortages, black markets and higher prices. For these reasons the Republican Party strongly opposes any reimposition of such controls, on a standby basis or otherwise.

Unfortunately, the Democrat-controlled Congress now persists in attempting to obtain control over our nation's money creation policies by taking away the independence of the Federal Reserve Board. The same people who have so massively expanded government spending should not be allowed politically to dominate our monetary policy. The independence of the Federal Reserve System must be preserved. Massive, federally-funded public employment programs, such as the Humphrey-Hawkins Bill currently embraced by the new National Platform of the Democrat Party will cost billions and can only be financed either through very large tax increases or through ever increasing levels of deficit spending. Although such government "make-work" programs usually provide a temporary stimulus to the economy, "quick-fix" solutions of this sort—like all narcotics—lead to addiction, larger and larger doses, and ultimately the destruction of far more jobs than they create. Sound job creation can only be accomplished in the private sector of the economy. Americans must not be fooled into accepting government as the employer of last resort.

Nor should we sit idly by while 2.5 million American jobs are threatened by imports of textile products. We encourage the renewal of the GATT Multifiber Arrangement and the signing of other necessary bilateral agreements to protect our domestic textile industry.

In order to be able to provide more jobs, businesses must be able to expand; yet in order to build and expand, they must be profitable and able to borrow funds (savings) that someone else has been willing to part with on a temporary basis. In the long run, inflation discourages thrift, encourages debt and destroys the incentive to save which is the mainspring of capital formation. When our government—through deficit spending and debasement of the currency—destroys the incentive to save and to invest, it destroys the very wellspring of American productivity. Obviously, when production falls, the number of jobs declines.

The American people are beginning to understand that no government can ever add real wealth (purchasing power) to an economy by simply turning on the printing presses or by creating credit out of thin air. All government can do is confiscate and redistribute wealth. No nation can spend its way into prosperity; a nation can only spend its way into bankruptcy.

Enfortunately, the Demonst-controlled Congramnow persists is stiengting to obtain control over our nation's money creation policies by mixing away the independence of the Federal Reserve Board. The same people who have an massively expanded government our monetary policy. The independence of the Federal Based on the Federal De unversed.

TAXES AND GOVERNMENT SPENDING

The Republican Party recognizes that tax policies and spending policies are inseparable. If government spending is not controlled, taxes will inevitably rise either directly or through inflation. By failing to tie spending directly to income, the Democrat-controlled Congress has not kept faith with the American people. Every American knows he cannot continually live beyond his means.

The Republican Party advocates a legislative policy to obtain a balanced federal budget and reduced tax rates. While the best tax reform is tax reduction, we recognize the need for structural tax adjustments to help the working men and women of our nation. To that end, we recommend tax credits for college tuition, postsecondary technical training and child care expenses incurred by working parents.

Over the past two decades of Democrat control of the Congress, our tax laws have become a nightmare of complexity and unfair tax preferences, virtually destroying the credibility of the system. Simplification should be a major goal of tax reform.

We support economic and tax policies to insure the necessary job-producing expansion of our economy. These include hastening capital recovery through new systems of accelerated depreciation, removing the tax burden on equity financing to encourage more capital investment, ending the unfair double taxation of dividends, and supporting proposals to enhance the ability of our working and other citizens to own "a piece of the action" through stock ownership. When balanced by expenditure reductions, the personal exemption should be raised to \$1,000.

A second second learned with a straight line up and the second second learned by a second sec

AGRICULTURE AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

The bounty of our farms is so plentiful that we may tend to forget what an amazing production achievement this really is. Each American farmer and rancher produces enough food to feed over 56 people—a threefold increase in productivity in 20 years.

Rural America must be maintained as a rewarding place to live. To accomplish this, our rural areas are entitled to services comparable to their urban neighbors, such as water and sewer systems, improved electricity and telephone service, adequate transportation, available and adequate financial credit, and employment opportunities which will allow small farmers to supplement their incomes.

Farm exports have continued to expand under the policies of this Republican Administration—from a low of \$6 billion in 1968, the last Democrat year, to \$22 billion in 1975. These exports are not giveaway programs; most are earning dollars from the marketplaces of the world, establishing a favorable balance of trade and a higher standard of living for all. Through our farm exports we fight the problem of world hunger, especially with the humanitarian Food for Peace Program (Public Law 480) of the Eisenhower Administration and the Republican-controlled Congress of 1954.

Republican farm policy has permitted farmers to use their crop land fully. We are at last moving toward making effective use of our superb resources. Net farm income from 1972 through 1975 averaged \$26 billion, more than double the average of the 1960's. Government should not dictate to the productive men and women who work the land. To assure this, we support the continuation of the central principles of the Agricultural Act of 1973, with adjustments of target prices and loan levels to reflect increased production costs.

We oppose government-controlled grain reserves, just as we oppose federal regulations that are unrealistic in farm practices, such as those imposed by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

We urge prompt action by Congress in amending the Grain Inspection Act to strengthen the present inspection system and restore its integrity.

We firmly believe that when the nation asks our farmers to go all out to produce as much as possible for

world-wide markets, the government should guarantee them unfettered access to those markets. Our farmers should not be singled out by export controls. Also, when a foreign national subsidizes its farm exports, our farmers deserve protection against such unfair practices. The federal government should assure that foreign imported commodities are equal in quality to our domestic commodities. Nations from whom we buy commodities should not be allowed to circumvent import restriction laws, such as the Meat Import Quota Act of 1964.

We recognize the importance of the multilateral trade negotiations now in progress and urge our representatives to obtain the most beneficial agreements for our farmers and the nation's economy.

In order to assure the consumers of America an uninterrupted source of food, it is necessary to pass labor relations legislation which is responsive to the welfare of workers and to the particular needs of food production. Such legislation should recognize the need to prevent work stoppages during the critical harvest periods.

We must help farmers protect themselves from drought, flood and other natural disasters through a system of all-risk crop insurance through Federal government reinsurance of private insurance companies combined with the existing disaster payment program.

As in 1972, we urge prompt passage of the Republican-sponored legislation now pending in Congress which will increase the estate tax exemption to \$200,000, allow valuation of farm property on a current use basis and provide for extension of the time of payment in the case of farms and small businesses. This overdue estate and gift tax legislation must be approved this year. We favor a liberalized marital deduction and oppose capital gains tax at death.

Innovations in agriculture need to be encouraged by expanding research programs including new pest and predator control measures, and utilization of crops as a new energy resource. If we expect our farmers to produce an abundant food supply, they must have all the energy they need to produce, market and process their crops and livestock.

We continue to support farmer cooperatives, including rural electric and telephone cooperatives, in their efforts to improve services to their members. We support the Capper-Volstead Act. We believe that non-farm corporations and tax-loss farming should be prevented from unfairly competing against family farms, which we support as the preferred method of farm organization.

Since farmers are practicing conservationists, they should not be burdened with unrealistic environmental regulations. We are concerned about regulations issued by the Army Corps of Engineers that will regulate all "routine" agricultural and forestry activities on "all" our waters and wetland, and support legislation to exempt routine farming operations from these requirements. The adjudication of water rights should be a matter of state determination.

SMALL BUSINESS

Small business, so vital to our economic system, is free enterprise in its purest sense. It holds forth opportunity to the individual, regardless of race or sex, to fulfill the American dream. Small businesses are the base of our economy and its main source of strength. Some 9.6 million small firms generate 55 percent of our private employment—or the livelihood of over 100 million Americans. Yet while small businesses have a unique place in our society, they also have unique problems that government must address. Therefore, we recommend that the Small Business Administration (SBA):

• Assure adequate financing to those credit worthy firms that cannot now obtain funds through conventional channels;

• Include the proper mix of loan programs to meet the needs of the many different types of firms that constitute the American small business community:

• Serve as an aggressive advocate for small business and provide procurement, management and technological assistance.

For survival, small businesses must have relief from the overwhelming burden placed on them by many regulatory bodies. Paperwork proliferation has grown out of control, and small business is not equipped to deal with this aggravation.

The present tax structure does not allow small firms to generate enough capital to grow and create jobs. Estate taxes need liberalization to benefit the family business in the same manner as the family farm. Encouraging investment in small businesses through more equitable tax treatment remains the best and least expensive method of creating productive employment.

The Republican Party, recognizing that small and independent business is the backbone of the American competitive system, pledges itself to strengthen this vital institution.

ANTITRUST

The Republican Party believes in and endorses the concept that the American economy is traditionally dependent upon fair competition in the marketplace. To assure fair competition, antitrust laws must treat all segments of the economy equally.

Vigorous and equitable enforcement of antitrust laws heightens competition and enables consumers to obtain the lowest possible price in the marketplace.

BUREAUCRATIC OVERREGULATION

We believe that the extent of federal regulation and bureaucratic interference in the lives of the American people must be reduced. The programs and activities of the federal government should be required to meet strict tests of their usefulness and effectiveness.

In particular, we consider essential an analysis of the extensive growth of laws and regulations governing production processes and conditions and standards for consumer products, so as to determine whether the services and benefits the American people receive are worth the price they are paying for these services in higher taxes and consumer prices.

We are intensely aware of the need to protect our environment and provide safe working conditions in American industry, while at the same time preventing the loss of jobs and the closing of small businesses through unrealistic or over-rigorous government regulations. We support a balanced approach that considers the requirements of a growing economy and provides jobs for American workers.

The average businessman and employer is being overwhelmed by government-required paperwork. We support legislation to control and reduce the burden of federal paperwork, particularly that generated by the Internal Revenue Service and the Census Bureau.

GOVERNMENT THAT WORKS

We believe that Americans are fed up with and frustrated by national government that makes great promises and fails to deliver. We are! We think that Democrat Congresses—in control for 40 out of the last 44 years are the grand masters of this practice. We think that a national government grown so big that the left hand doesn't know what the right hand is doing has caused the condition we are in.

What we now have is a government organization that doesn't make any sense. It has not developed by design. It just grew—by whim, bureaucratic fighting, and the caving in of Democrat Congresses to special interest demands. So today we find that nine federal departments and twenty independent agencies are involved in education; seven departments and eight agencies in health; federal recreation areas are administered by six agencies in three departments; and so forth.

What we need is a top-to-bottom overhaul. Two high level presidential commissions under two Presidents—one a Democrat, one a Republican—have investigated and come up with the same answer: There must be functional realignment of government, instead of the current arrangement by subject areas or constituencies.

We want federal domestic departments to reflect the major purposes of government, such as natural resources, human resources, community development and economic affairs. Unfortunately, the Democrat Congress has refused to address this problem. Now we insist that attention must be paid.

Too often in the past, we have been content with organizational or procedural solutions to complex economic and social regulatory problems. We should no longer accept rhetoric as a substitute for concrete results. The President has proposed to Congress the Agenda for Government Reform Act, which would guarantee the systematic re-examination and reform of all federal regulatory activities within the next four years. This legislation requires Congress and the President to agree to undertake an exhaustive reassessment of the combined effects of all government regulations, and it requires them to adhere to a disciplined timetable to assure annual results. The American people deserve no less. Every agency of government must be made efficient. and every government regulation should be subjected to cost benefit analysis. The Occupational Safety and

Health Administration (OSHA) is a typical example of a well-intentioned regulatory effort which has imposed large costs but has not solved our problems.

The beauty of America's original concept of government was its diversity, the belief that different purposes are best served by governments at different levels. In our lifetime, however, Democrat Congresses have allowed this system to become warped and over-nationalized. As powers have flowed to Washington, the ability to attend to our problems has often dried up in our communities and states. This trend must be reversed. Local government is simply more accountable to the people, and local people are perfectly capable of making decisions.

We reaffirm the long standing principle of the Republican Party that the best government is the one closest to the people. It is less costly, more accountable, and more responsive to the people's needs. Our confidence in the people of this nation was demonstrated by initiating the Revenue Sharing Program. To date, \$30 billion of federal tax dollars have been returned to the states and localities. This program is administered with fewer than 100 people and a computer. Revenue Sharing is an effort to reverse the trend toward centralization. Revenue Sharing must continue without unwarranted federal strictures and regulations.

As a further step in this direction, the Republicans in Congress promoted the new concept of federal block grants to localities for much greater flexibility. Under block grants, federal funds can be tailored by the states and localities to the wishes of each community. There are now two block grant programs—in community development and employment training. Block grant programs should be extended to replace many existing categorical health, education, child nutrition and social services programs. The Democrat Congress stands guilty of failing to enact these vital reforms. Our ultimate goal is to restore taxing and spending to the local level.

The Republican Party has always believed that the proper role of government is to do only those things which individuals cannot do for themselves. We encourage individual initiative and oppose the trend of ever expanding government programs which is destroying the volunteer spirit in America. We firmly believe that community involvement is essential to the development of effective solutions to the problems confronting our country. While we oppose a uniform national primary, we encourage the concept of regional presidential primaries, which would group those states which voluntarily agree to have presidential primaries in a geographical area on a common date.

We encourage full participation in our electoral process. We further recognize the sanctity and value of the ballot. In that regard, we oppose "federal post card registration." The possibilities of fraud are inherent in registration by mail. Such possibilities could not only cheapen our ballot, but in fact threaten the entire electoral process.

Control of the United States Congress by the Democrat Party for 40 of the past 44 years has resulted in a system dominated by powerful individuals and riddled with corruption. Recent events have demonstrated an unwillingness and inability by the Democrat Party to cleanse itself. Selective morality has been the order of the day. Positive Republican initiatives have languished in Democrat-controlled Congressional Committees while business as usual has continued in Washington. The American people demand and deserve reform of the United States Congress. We offer these proposals of farreaching reform:

• Repeal of legislation which permits automatic increases in the salaries of Members of Congress, congressional staffs, and official expense allowances. Public accountability demands that Members publicly vote on increases on the expenses of their office. Members' salary increases should not become effective until a new Congress is elected.

• Elimination of proxy voting which allows Members to record votes in Committee without being present for the actual deliberations or vote on a measure.

• Elimination of Democrat Caucus rules which allow a Party to bind its Members' votes on legislation. Each Member of Congress represents his constituency and must be free to vote in accordance with the dictates of his constituency and individual conscience.

• A complete audit by the General Accounting Office of all congressional allowances and appropriate disciplinary measures for those who have violated the public trust.

• Full public disclosure of financial interests by Members and divestiture of those interests which present conflicts of interest. • Changes in the House rules which would allow a House majority to require the House Ethics Committee to conduct an investigation into alleged misconduct by any Member of Congress if the Committee refuses to act on its own.

• A complete overhaul and streamlining of the system which has permitted the proliferation of subcommittees with over-lapping responsibility, vague jurisdictional definitions and a lack of legislative production.

• Quarterly publication of names, titles and salaries of all Congressional employees.

• Improved lobby disclosure legislation so that the people will know how much money is being spent to influence public officials.

Citizens are demanding the end to the rapid and wasteful increase in the size of Washington government. All steps must be taken to insure that unnecessary federal agencies and programs are eliminated and that Congress carefully scrutinize the total budget of each agency. If it is determined that sunset laws and zerobased budgeting can accomplish these ends, then they will have our support. Washington programs must be made as cost-effective as those in the states and localities. Among the many serious complaints that we wish to register on behalf of the American people is the poor operation of the United States Postal Service.

We note the low respect the public has for Congress —a Democrat-controlled institution—and wonder how the Democrats can possibly honor their pledge to reform government when they have utterly failed to reform Congress.

analise an analymerragelical that stiggeough one align breaking and one acts seek association that shall be achieved align priority of proof referre annulither in a second the young fractions offender. There should be acceptate analisms apprinting transition devices and a brook with the pather Management in a bit with the advector pather and the acceptance of the acceptance of the second pather Management in a bit with the acceptance of the second at a bit the second second second second second second at a bit the second second second second second second provide the second second second second second second provide the second second second second second second provide the second second second second second second second provide the second second second second second second second second provide the second second second second second second second second second provide the second secon

and the format like a birth of the state of the source of

A SAFE AND JUST SOCIETY

Every American has a right to be protected from criminals. Violence has no place in our land. A society that excuses crime will eventually fall victim to it. The American people have been subjected to an intolerable wave of violent crime.

The victim of a crime should be treated with compassion and justice. The attacker must be kept from harming others. Emphasis must be on protecting the innocent and punishing the guilty. Prevention of crime is its best deterrent and should be stressed.

Fighting crime is—and should be—primarily a local responsibility. We support the continuation of the federal help given through the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (LEAA) to law enforcement officials in our states, counties and municipalities. Each state should have the power to decide whether it wishes to impose the death penalty for certain crimes. All localities are urged to tighten their bail practices and to review their sentencing and parole procedures.

The federal criminal code should include automatic and mandatory minimum sentences for persons committing offenses under federal jurisdiction that involve the use of a dangerous weapon; that involve exceptionally serious crimes, such as trafficking in hard drugs, kidnapping and aircraft hijacking; and that involve injuries committed by repeat offenders.

The work presently being done to tighten the antiobscenity provisions of the criminal code has our full support. Since the jurisdiction of the federal government in this field is limited to interstate commerce and the mails, we urge state and local governments to assume a major role in limiting the distribution and availability of obscene materials.

We support the right of citizens to keep and bear arms. We oppose federal registration of firearms. Mandatory sentences for crimes committed with a lethal weapon are the only effective solution to this problem.

Sure and swift justice demands additional judges, United States Attorneys and other court workers. The Democrat Congress has created no new federal judgeships since 1970; we deplore this example of playing politics with the justice system. Drug abuse is not simply a health problem, but also a very real law enforcement concern and a problem of worldwide dimension. Controlling drug abuse calls for the ratification of the existing international treaty on synthetic drugs, increased emphasis on preventing the diversion of amphetamines and barbiturates into illegal markets, and intensive efforts to keep drugs out of this country. Heroin continues to come across our borders. Drug enforcement agents and international cooperation must cut off this supply. We say: Treat the addicts, but, at the same time, remove the pushers from the street and give them mandatory sentences.

Juveniles now account for almost half the arrests for serious crimes-murder, rape, robbery and aggravated assault. The cost of school violence and vandalism is estimated at \$600 million annually, about what is spent on textbooks. Primary responsibility for raising our children, instilling proper values and thus preventing juvenile delinquency lies with the family, not the government. Yet when families fail, local law enforcement authorities must respond. Law enforcement block grant funds can be used by states in correcting and preventing juvenile delinquency. The LEAA should promote additional research in this area. The structure of the family must be strengthened. All enterprises have to be encouraged to find more jobs for young people. A youth differential must be included in the minimum wage law. Citizen action should let the television industry know that we want it to curb violence in programming because of its effect on our youth.

The criminal justice system must be more vigilant in preventing rape, eliminating discrimination against the victim and dealing with the offenders.

States should recognize that antiquated and overcrowded prisons are not conducive to rehabilitation. A high priority of prison reform should be to help the young first-time offender. There should be adequate separation of young from adult offenders, more relevant prison industries, better counseling, community-based alternatives and more help in getting a job for the offender who has served his or her time.

Terrorism—both domestic and international—must be stopped. Not only must the strongest steps be taken in the United States, but collective action must come from all nations. Deterring every form of hijacking calls for sanctions against countries that aid terrorists. The world community should take appropriate action to deal with terrorist organizations. We applaud the daring rescue by Israel of innocent civilian hostages who were kidnapped by terrorists. While we regret that loss of life was involved, the courageous manner in which the hostages were freed speaks eloquently to our abhorrence of world bandits.

THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY

Liberty depends in great measure on the privacy that each American retains.

We are alarmed by Washington's growing collection of information. The number of federal data banks is now estimated at between 800 and 900 and more than 50 agencies are involved. We question the need for all these computers to be storing the records of our lives. Safeguards must protect us against this information being misused or disclosed. Major changes, for example, are needed to maintain the confidentiality of tax returns and Society Security records.

Recent Supreme Court decisions have held that an individual has no constitutional right to the privacy of records held in banks or other depository institutions and that they can be readily obtained by law enforcement agencies without a person's consent or knowledge. Law enforcement authorities must be able to pursue criminal violators, yet, at the same time, there should be reasonable controls imposed to protect the privacy of law-abiding citizens. We support legislation, now pending, to assure this protection.

Too many government records, on the other hand, are unnecessarily classified. Congress and the Executive should devise a more reasonable system for classifying and handling government information.

The President's achievements in protecting privacy are unequalled by past administrations and must be built upon in the future. We particularly note changes in federal record-keeping systems, the appointment of the Commission on the CIA, the reorganization of the intelligence community and the restriction of White House access to income tax returns.

THE AMERICAN FAMILY

Families must continue to be the foundation of our nation.

Families—not government programs—are the best way to make sure our children are properly nurtured, our elderly are cared for, our cultural and spiritual heritages are perpetuated, our laws are observed and our values are preserved.

If families fail in these vitally important tasks, there is little the government, no matter how well-intentioned, can do to remedy the results. Schools cannot educate children adequately if families are not supportive of the learning process. Law enforcement authorities are nearly helpless to curb juvenile delinquency without family cooperation in teaching young people respect for property and laws. Neither medicine nor school feeding programs can replace the family's ability to provide the basis for good health. Isolation from meaningful family contact makes it virtually impossible for the elderly to avoid loneliness or dependence. The values of hard work and responsibility start with the family.

As modern life brings changes in our society, it also puts stresses on families trying to adjust to new realities while maintaining cherished values. Economic uncertainty, unemployment, housing difficulties, women's and men's concerns with their changing and often conflicting roles, high divorce rates, threatened neighborhoods and schools, and public scandal all create a hostile atmosphere that erodes family structures and family values. Thus it is imperative that our government's programs, actions, officials and social welfare institutions never be allowed to jeopardize the family. We fear the government may be powerful enough to destroy our families; we know that it is not powerful enough to replace them.

Because of our concern for family values, we affirm our beliefs, stated elsewhere in this Platform, in many elements that will make our country a more hospitable environment for family life—neighborhood schools; educational systems that include and are responsive to parents' concerns; estate tax changes to establish more realistic exemptions which will minimize disruption of already bereaved families; a position on abortion that values human life; a welfare policy to encourage rather than discourage families to stay together and seek economic independence; a tax system that assists rather than penalizes families with elderly members, children in day care or children in college; economic and employment policies that stop the shrinkage of our dollars and stimulate the creation of jobs so that families can plan for their economic security.

If families factors and a state of all grant parts in trains, there is hitle the government, to matter how well-intentioned, call of a state of the state of the

In the indication with an age obstrages in and substrated within a phire investor and intuition through a minute to ender realition when a dimensional proprietable vertures. Scotolist vertures that a large a large with the scale of the ball the vertures in the real school stand with the scale of the ball the vertures real and the barrent interaction of the barrowine work real schools and the barrent interaction of the scale of the real schools and the barrent interaction of the scale of the real schools and the barrent interaction of the scale of the real schools and the barrent interaction of the scale of the real schools and the barrent interaction of the scale of the real schools and the scale of the scale of the scale of the law interaction the scale of the scale of the scale of the law interaction the scale of the law interaction the scale of the scale of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale instruction of the scale of the scale of the officials and scale of the scale of th

hadt waard ave breathing was received as farming her and

the beliefs, stated sharahora in bis Flatform dr. many elements from the reales off country a many hermitable equivalence on the back of a set state of the set of the second termine will give many an about the set bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set state of the bain market being the state of the set bain when a state the state of the state of the state of the set state of the bain de state of the state of the state of the set state of the bain de state of the state of the state of the set state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines of the state of the state of the set state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of the state of the state of the bain destines the state of the state of

EDUCATION

Our children deserve quality education.

We believe that segregated schools are morally wrong and unconstitutional. However, we oppose forced busing to achieve racial balances in our schools. We believe there are educational advantages for children in attending schools in their own neighborhoods and that the Democrat-controlled Congress has failed to enact legislation to protect this concept. The racial composition of many schools results from decisions by people about where they choose to live. If Congress continues to fail to act, we would favor consideration of an amendment to the Constitution forbidding the assignment of children to schools on the basis of race.

Our approach is to work to eradicate the root causes of segregated schools, such as housing discrimination and gerrymandered school districts. We **must** get on with the education of all our children.

Throughout our history, the education of our children has been a community responsibility. But now federal categorical grant programs pressure local school districts into substituting Washington-dictated priorities for their own. Local school administrators and school boards are being turned into bookkeepers for the federal government. Red tape and restrictive regulations stifle imagination and creativity. We are deeply concerned about the decline in the performance of our schools and the decline in public confidence in them.

We favor consideration of tax credits for parents making elementary and secondary school tuition payments.

Local communities wishing to conduct non-sectarian prayers in their public schools should be able to do so. We favor a constitutional amendment to achieve this end.

We propose consolidating federal categorical grant programs into block grants and turning the money over to the states to use in accordance with their own needs and priorities and with minimum bureaucratic controls. A single program must preserve the funding that is directed at the needs of such special groups as the handicapped and the disadvantaged.

Primary responsibility for education, particularly on the elementary and secondary levels, belongs to local communities and parents. Intrusion by the federal government must be avoided. Bureaucratic control of schools by Washington has the potential for destruction of our educational system by taking more and more decisions away from parents and local school authorities. Total financial dependence on the federal government inevitably leads to greater centralization of authority. We believe, therefore, that a study should be authorized concerning funding of elementary and secondary education, coupled with a study regarding return to the states of equivalent revenue to compensate for any loss in present levels of federal funding.

Unless steps are taken immediately, soaring prices will restrict a college education to the rich and those poor enough to qualify now for government aid. Federal higher education policy should continue to focus on financial aid for needy individuals, but because the financial ability to go to college is fast slipping out of the grasp of middle income families, more realistic eligibility guidelines for student aid are essential.

Government interference in the management of colleges and universities must be stopped. Federal support to assist in meeting the grave financial problems of higher education should be forthcoming, but such funds should never be used as devices for imposing added controls.

Diversity in education has great value. Public schools and non-public schools should share in education funds on a constitutionally acceptable basis. Private colleges and universities should be assisted to maintain healthy competition and to enrich diversity. The cost of expanding public campuses can be kept down if existing private institutions are helped to accommodate our student population.

We favor continued special federal support for vocational education.

programs into block grants and turning the money over to the states to use in accordance with their own needs and primities and with minimum hureaucratic controls. A single program must previous the funding that is directed at the needs of such special grangs as the hardlcontrol and the disadvantaged.

Primary responsibility for outconton, particularly on the elementary and secondary levels, belongs to local Every American should have access to quality health care at an affordable price.

The possibility of an extended illness in a family is a frightening prospect, but, if it does happen, a person should at least be protected from having it wipe out lifetime savings. Catastrophic expenses incurred from major illnesses and accidents affect only a small percentage of Americans each year, but for those people, the financial burden can be devastating. We support extension of catastrophic illness protection to all who cannot obtain it. We should utilize our private health insurance system to assure adequate protection for those who do not have it. Such an approach will eliminate the red tape and high bureaucratic costs inevitable in a comprehensive national program.

The Republican Party opposes compulsory national health insurance.

Americans should know that the Democrat Platform, which offers a government-operated and financed "comprehensive national health insurance system with universal and mandatory coverage," will increase federal government spending by more than \$70 billion in its first full year. Such a plan, could require a personal income tax increase of approximately 20 percent. We oppose this huge, new health insurance tax. Moreover, we do not believe that the federal government can administer effectively the Democrats' cradle-to-grave proposal.

The most effective, efficient and economical method to improve health care and extend its availability to all is to build on the present health delivery and insurance system, which covers nine out of every ten Americans.

A coordinated effort should be mounted immediately to contain the rapid increase in health care costs by all available means, such as development of healthier life styles through education, improved preventive care, better distribution of medical manpower, emphasis on outof-hospital services and elimination of wasteful duplication of medical services.

We oppose excessive intrusions from Washington in the delivery of health care. We believe in preserving the privacy that should exist between a patient and a physician, particularly in regard to the confidentiality of medical records. Federal health programs should be consolidated into a single grant to each state, where possible, thereby allowing much greater flexibility in setting local priorities. Our rural areas, for example, have different health care delivery needs than our cities. Federal laws and regulations should respect these differences and make it possible to respond differently to differing needs. Fraud in Medicare and Medicaid programs should be exposed and eliminated.

We need a comprehensive and equitable approach to the subject of mental health. Such a program should focus on the prevention, treatment and care of mental illness. It should cover all aspects of the interrelationships between emotional illness and other specific disabilities.

The Republican Party applauds the enlightened programs that address mental retardation, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, and other developmental disabilities that seek to remove us from the dark ages in these areas.

Alcoholism and drug abuse, growing problems in America today, should receive the utmost attention.

While we support valid medical and biological research efforts which can produce life-saving results, we oppose any research on live fetuses. We are also opposed to any legislation which sanctions ending the life of any patient.

CHILD NUTRITION

Every child should have enough to eat. Good nutrition is a prerequisite of a healthy life. We must focus our resources on feeding **needy** children. The present school lunch programs provide a 20 percent subsidy to underwrite the meals of children from middle- and upper-income families.

The existing 15 child nutrition programs should be consolidated into one program, administered by the states, and concentrated on those children truly in need. Other federal programs should insure that lowincome people will be able to purchase a nutritionally adequate food supply.

EQUAL RIGHTS AND ENDING DISCRIMINATION

Roadblocks must be removed that may prevent Americans from realizing their full potential in society. Unfair discrimination is a burden that intolerably weighs morally, economically and politically upon a free nation.

While working to eradicate discriminatory practices, every citizen should be encouraged to take pride in and foster the cultural heritage that has been passed on from previous generations. Almost every American traces ancestry from another country; this cultural diversity gives strength to our national heritage.

There must be vigorous enforcement of laws to assure equal treatment in job recruitment, hiring, promotion, pay, credit, mortgage access and housing. The way to end discrimination, however, is not by resurrecting the much discredited quota system and attempting to cloak it in an aura of new respectability. Rather, we must provide alternative means of assisting the victims of past discrimination to realize their full worth as American citizens.

Wiping out past discrimination requires continued emphasis on providing educational opportunities for minority citizens, increasing direct and guaranteed loans to minority business enterprises, and affording qualified minority persons equal opportunities for government positions at all levels.

Women

Women, who comprise a numerical majority of the population, have been denied a just portion of our nation's rights and opportunities. We reaffirm our pledge to work to eliminate discrimination in all areas for reasons of race, color, national origin, age, creed or sex and to enforce vigorously laws guaranteeing women equal rights.

The Republican Party reaffirms its support for ratification of the Equal Rights Amendment. Our Party was the first national party to endorse the E.R.A. in 1940. We continue to believe its ratification is essential to insure equal rights for all Americans. In our 1972 Platform, the Republican Party recognized the great contributions women have made to society as homemakers and mothers, as contributors to the community through volunteer work, and as members of the labor force in careers. The Platform stated then, and repeats now, that the Republican Party "fully endorses the principle of equal rights, equal opportunities and equal responsibilities for women." The Equal Rights Amendment is the embodiment of this principle and therefore we support its swift ratification.

The question of abortion is one of the most difficult and controversial of our time. It is undoubtedly a moral and personal issue but it also involves complex questions relating to medical science and criminal justice. There are those in our Party who favor complete support for the Supreme Court decision which permits abortion on demand. There are others who share sincere convictions that the Supreme Court's decision must be changed by a constitutional amendment prohibiting all abortions. Others have yet to take a position, or they have assumed a stance somewhere in between polar positions.

We protest the Supreme Court's intrusion into the family structure through its denial of the parents' obligation and right to guide their minor children. The Republican Party favors a continuance of the public dialogue on abortion and supports the efforts of those who seek enactment of a constitutional amendment to restore protection of the right to life for unborn children.

The Social Security System, our federal tax laws, and unemployment and disability programs currently discriminate against women and often work against married couples as well. These inequities must be corrected. We recognize that special support must be given to the increasing number of women who have assumed responsibility as the heads of households while also being wage earners. Programs for job training, counseling and other services should be established to help them attain their dual role in society.

We reiterate the pledges elsewhere in this platform of support for child care assistance, part-time and flexible-time work that enables men and women to combine employment and family responsibilities, estate tax reform, small business assistance for women, rape prevention and elimination of discriminatory housing practices.

Ethnic Americans

Ethnic Americans have enriched this nation with their hard work, self-reliance and respect for the rights and needs of others. Ethnic groups reaching our shores at various times have given our country its unique identity and strength among the nations of the world. We recognize and value the contributions of Ethnic Americans to our free and democratic society.

Hispanic-Americans

When language is a cause of discrimination, there must be an intensive educational effort to enable Spanish-speaking students to become fully proficient in English while maintaining their own language and cultural heritage. Hispanic-Americans must not be treated as second-class citizens in schools, employment or any other aspect of life just because English is not their first language. Hispanic-Americans truly believe that individual integrity must be paramount; what they want most from government and politics is the opportunity to participate fully. The Republican Party has and always will offer this opportunity.

Indians and Alaska Natives

We have a unique commitment to Native Americans; we pledge to continue to honor our trust relationship with them, and we reaffirm our federal Indian policy of self-determination without termination. This means moving smoothly and quickly away from federal domination to effective participation and communication by Indians in the political process and in the planning, content and administration of federal programs. We shall pursue our joint effort with Indian leaders to assist in the orderly development of Indian and native-owned resources and to continue to attack the severe health, education and unemployment problems which exist among Indians and Alaska Natives.

Puerto Rico, The District of Columbia and the Territories

The principle of self-determination also governs our positions on Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia as it has in past platforms. We again support statehood for Puerto Rico, if that is the people's choice in a referendum, with full recognition within the concept of a multicultural society of the citizens' right to retain their Spanish language and traditions; and support giving the District of Columbia voting representation in the United States Senate and House of Representatives and full home rule over those matters that are purely local.

We will continue to negotiate with the Congress of Micronesia on the future political status of the Trust Territories of the Pacific Islands to meet the mutual interests of both parties. We support a plebiscite by the people of American Samoa on whether they wish to elect a territorial governor. We favor whatever action is necessary to permit American citizens resident in Guam, Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands to vote for President and Vice President in national elections.

Responsibilities

Finally, the most basic principle of all: Achievement and preservation of human rights in our society is based on the willing acceptance by millions of Americans of their responsibilities as free citizens. Instead of viewing government programs with ever increasing expectations, we must readily assume the obligations of wage-earners, taxpayers and supporters of our government and laws. This is often forgotten, and so it is appropriate to remind ourselves in this Platform that this is why our society works.

HANDICAPPED CITIZENS

Handicapped persons must be admitted into the mainstream of our society.

Too often the handicapped population of the nation—over 30 million men, women and children—has been denied the rights taken for granted by other citizens. Time after time, the paths are closed to the handicapped in education, employment, transportation, health care, housing, recreation, insurance, polling booths and due process of law. National involvement is necessary to correct discrimination in these areas. Individual incentive alone cannot do it.

We pledge continued attention to the problems caused by barriers in architecture, communication, transportation and attitudes. In addition, we realize that to deny education and employment simply because of an existing disability runs counter to our accepted belief in the free enterprise system and forces the handicapped to be overly dependent on others. Similarly, the denial of equal access to credit and to acquisition of venture capital on the basis of a handicap or other disability conflicts with Republican philosophy. We advocate the elimination of needless barriers for all handicapped persons.

WORKING AMERICANS

Free collective bargaining remains the best way to insure that American workers receive a fair price for their labors.

The special problems of collective bargaining in state and local government should be addressed at those levels. Washington should not impose its standards on local governments. While we oppose strikes by public employees, we recognize that states have the right to permit them if they choose.

Union membership as a condition of employment has been regulated by state law under Section 14(b)of the Taft-Hartley Act. This basic right should continue to be determined by the states. We oppose strikes by federal employees, the unionization of our military forces and the legalization of common-situs picketing.

Employees of the federal government should not engage in partisan politics. The Civil' Service System must remain non-partisan and non-political. The Hatch Act now protects federal employees; we insist that it be uniformly administered.

Among the rights that are the entitlement of every American worker is the right to join a union—large, small or independent; the right to be protected against racial discrimination and misuse of dues; the right to union elections that are fair and democratic; and the right to be assured of ultimately receiving his or her promised pension benefits.

Safe and healthful working conditions are goals of utmost importance. We should expect the Occupational Safety and Health Administration to help employers, particularly in small businesses, comply with the law, and we will support legislation providing on-site consultation.

There should be considerable concern over the presence of several million illegal aliens in the country who fill jobs that otherwise would be available to American workers. We support increased efforts to deal more effectively with this problem and favor legislation prohibiting employers from knowingly hiring illegal aliens. The Democrat leaders in Congress have systematically killed every attempt to debate this legislation in recent years.

Increased part-time and flexible-hour work should be encouraged wherever feasible. In keeping with our belief in family life, we want to expand more opportunities for men and women to combine family responsibilities and employment.

WELFARE REFORM

The work of all Americans contributes to the strength of our nation, and all who are able to contribute should be encouraged to do so.

In every society there will be some who cannot work, often through no fault of their own. The measure of a country's compassion is how it treats the least fortunate.

We appreciate the magnificent variety of private charitable institutions which have developed in the United States.

The Democrat-controlled Congress has produced a jumble of degrading, dehumanizing, wasteful, overlapping and inefficient programs failing to assist the needy poor. A systematic and complete overhaul of the welfare system should be initiated immediately.

The following goals should govern the reform of the welfare system: (1) Provide adequate living standards for the truly needy; (2) End welfare fraud and prevent it in the future with emphasis on removing ineligible recipients from the welfare rolls, tightening food stamp eligibility requirements, and ending aid to illegal aliens and the voluntarily unemployed; (3) Strengthen work requirements, particularly directed at the productive involvement of able-bodied persons in useful community work projects; (4) Provide educational and vocational incentives to allow recipients to become self-supporting; (5) Better coordinate federal efforts with local and state social welfare agencies and strengthen local and state administrative functions. We oppose federalizing the welfare system; local levels of government are most aware of the needs of their communities. Consideration should be given to a range of options in financing the programs to assure that state and local responsibilities are met. We also oppose the guaranteed annual income concept or any programs that reduce the incentive to work.

Those features of the present law, particularly the food stamp program, that draw into assistance programs people who are capable of paying for their own needs should be corrected. The humanitarian purpose of such programs must not be corrupted by eligibility loopholes. Food stamp program reforms proposed by Republicans in Congress would accomplish the twin goals of directing resources to those most in need and streamlining administration. We must never forget that unemployment compensation is insurance, not a welfare program. It should be redesigned to assure that working is always more beneficial than collecting unemployment benefits. The benefits should help most the hard-core unemployed. Major efforts must be encouraged through the private sector to speed up the process of finding jobs for those temporarily out of work.

OLDER AMERICANS

Older Americans constitute one of our most valuable resources.

Families should be supported in trying to take care of their elderly. Too often govermnent laws and policies contribute to the deterioration of family life. Our tax laws, for example, permit a deduction to the taxpayer who gives a contribution to a charitable institution that might care for an elderly parent, but offer little or no incentive to provide care in the home. If an elderly parent relinquishes certain assets and enters a nursing home, the parent may qualify for full Medicaid coverage, but if parents live with their children, any Supplemental Security Income benefit for which they are eligible may be reduced. Incentives must be written into law to encourage families to care for their older members.

Along with loneliness and ill health, older Americans are deeply threatened by inflation. The costs of the basic necessities of life—food, shelter, clothing, health care—have risen so drastically as to reduce the ability of many older persons to subsist with any measure of dignity. In addition to our program for protecting against excessive costs of long-term illness, nothing will be as beneficial to the elderly as the effect of this Platform's proposals on curbing inflation.

The Social Security benefits are of inestimable importance to the well-being and financial peace-of-mind of most older Americans. We will not let the Social Security system fail. We will work to make the Social Security system actuarily sound. The Social Security program must not be turned into a welfare system, based on need rather than contributions. The cost to employers for Social Security contributions must not be raised to the point where they will be unable to afford contributions to employees' private pension programs. We will work for an increase in the earned income ceiling or its elimination so that, as people live longer, there will not be the present penalty on work. We will also seek to correct those provisions of the system that now discriminate against women and married couples.

Such programs as Foster Grandparents and Senior Companions, which provide income exempt from Social Security limitations, should be continued and extended to encourage senior citizens to continue to be active and involved in society. Appropriate domiciliary care programs should be developed to enable senior citizens to receive such care without losing other benefits to which they may be entitled.

We favor the abolition of arbitrary age levels for mandatory retirement.

The Medicare program must be improved to help control inflation in health care costs triggered by present regulations.

Other areas of concern to the elderly that need increased attention are home and outpatient care, adequate transportation, nutrition, day care and homemaker care as an alternative to costly institutional treatment.

A nation should be judged by its ability to help make all the years of life as productive and gainful as possible. This nation still has a job to do.

VETERANS

The nation must never forget its appreciation and obligation to those who have served in the armed forces.

Because they bear the heaviest burdens of war, we owe special honor and compensation to disabled veterans and survivors of the war dead.

We are firmly committed to maintaining and improving our Veterans Administration hospital system.

Younger veterans, especially those who served in the Vietnam conflict, deserve educational, job and housing loan benefits equivalent to those of World War II and the Korean conflict. Because of our deep and continuing concern for those still listed as Prisoners of War or Missing in Action in Vietnam, the Foreign Policy section of this Republican Platform calls for top priority actions.

And we must continue to provide for our veterans at their death a final resting place for their remains in a national cemetery and the costs of transportation thereto.

A NATIONAL URBAN STRATEGY

The decay and decline of communities in this country is not just a physical and economic crisis, but is traceable to the decline of a real "sense of community" in our society. Community development cannot be achieved merely by throwing dollars and mortar at our community problems; what must be developed is a new sense of mutual concern and responsibility among all members of a community for its improvement.

We recognize the family, the neighborhood and the private volunteer sector to be the most basic and vital units within our communities and we recognize their central role in revitalizing our communities. We propose a strategy for urban revitalization that both treats our urban areas as social organisms and recognizes that the family is the basic building block in these organisms.

Effectively helping our cities now requires a coordinated National Urban Policy. The cornerstone of this policy must be to curb inflation. This policy must be based on the principle that the levels of government closest to the cities' problems are best able to respond. Thus federal and state assistance to cities and counties should give the greatest flexibility to those directly on the scene, the local elected officials. Such a policy should replace the welter of confusing and often conflicting federal categorical grant programs—the approach of the Democrat Congress — with block grant programs that allow cities and counties to set their own priorities.

Without an urban policy, the Democrat-controlled Congress has created a hodge-podge of programs which have all but destroyed our once vital cities. At the same time, urban crime rates have skyrocketed and the quality and promise of metropolitan education systems have plummeted. All this has happened during the years that the number of federal urban programs has increased almost tenfold: from 45 in 1946 to 435 in 1968; and expenditures have increased 3000 percent; from \$1 billion to \$30 billion.

The Republican programs of revenue sharing and block grants for community development and manpower have already helped our cities and counties immensely. We favor extension of revenue sharing and the orderly conversion of categorical grants into block grants. When federal assistance programs for general purpose local governments are administered through the states, there should be direct pass-through and effective role for cities and counties in the planning, allocation and use of the funds.

Federal, state and local government resources combined are not enough to solve our urban problems. The private sector must be the major participant. Economic development is the best way to involve business and industry; government support should emphasize capital formation and technical assistance for small and minority businesses.

We can bring about a new birth of freedom by following the example of those individuals, organizations and community leaders who have successfully solved specific undesirable conditions and problems through private efforts. Government officials should be aware of these successes in developing new approaches to public problems.

Financial institutions should be encouraged to participate in the financial requirements of urban development. Each institution should recognize its responsibility in promoting and maintaining economic growth and stability in the central cities.

Our urban policies should encourage families and businesses to improve their neighborhoods by means of participation in neighborhood self-help groups, improving and rehabilitating their homes and businesses, and investing in and managing local businesses. We support the revision of federal business assistance programs to encourage joint efforts by local merchants' associations.

We need a comprehensive approach to plan, develop and implement a variety of programs which take into account the many diverse needs of each neighborhood. The establishment of a National Neighborhood Policy will signal a commitment to the improvement of the quality of our life in our neighborhoods.

We call for an expansion of the President's Committee on Urban Development and Neighborhood Revitalization to include representatives of elected state and local officials and the private sector.

Taken together, the thrust of the proposals in this section and in such related areas as housing, transportation, safety and taxes should contribute significantly to making our cities again pleasant places to live. The Republican National Urban Strategy has been formed in the realization that when the bell tolls for the cities it tolls for all of America.

HOUSING

In the United States today we are the best housed nation in the history of world civilization. This accomplishment was achieved by a private enterprise system using free market concepts.

All of our citizens should be given the opportunity to live in decent, affordable housing.

We believe that we should continue to pursue the primary goal of expanding housing opportunities for all Americans and we should pursue the companion goal of reducing the degree of direct federal involvement in housing.

To most Americans the American dream is a home of their own. The time has come to face some hard realities, primarily that the greatest impediment to decent and affordable housing is inflation. It logically follows that one effective housing program would be simply to elect a Republican Congress which would balance the federal budget.

To meet the housing needs of this country there must be a continuous, stable and adequate flow of funds for the purpose of real estate mortgages at realistic interest rates.

To continue to encourage home ownership, which now encompasses 64 percent of our families, we support the deductibility of interest on home mortgages and property taxes.

We favor the concept of federal revenue sharing and block grants to reduce the excessive burden of the property tax in financing local government.

We are concerned with the excessive reliance of financing welfare and public school costs primarily by the property tax.

We support inflation-impact studies on governmental regulations, which are inflating housing costs.

Current economic problems and environmental concerns must be balanced in each community by a policy of "Sensible Growth."

We oppose discrimination in housing, whether by individuals or by institutional financing policies.

We urge continued incentives to support the development of low and moderate income housing in order to assure the availability of adequate shelter for the less fortunate.

Rehabilitation and preservation of existing housing stock should be given high priority in federal housing policy.

We urge the continuation of the self-help restoration of housing, such as urban homesteading, which is providing housing for low-income families.

President Electrower, has brought new breedow of travel to overy American and must be completed and mainmined. Our road pervorts shall a brows group calety through better dealers as well as bridge maintenance and replacement.

We must also have a safe and afficient aviation avatem equatie of resonating to the air interactive mode of the future and of rotucing exponent in strengt rolas matery factifies, and the design and adequate staffing of advanced air traffic control systems in arritative use as a viber models of transportation, the inneed on the previous control design and deduced on the previous control systems in arritate use as a situate appretiate of transportation, the inneed on the previous extrements must alwars be a basic consideration in beland decisions and such deduced should also maintee treatment of transport and the contents. We deplote unfair treatment of the test of states aritimes under foreign lending resultations.

Restarch must be continued to find sale, more fusiofficient automobile engines and airplanes; sales, faster val services and more conventent, less engenive within transportation. Tax policies should be considered which would simulate the development and installation of new energy sources to transportation, each as callenad eler-

TRANSPORTATION

The federal government has a special responsibility to foster those elements of our national transportation system that are essential to foreign and interstate commerce and national defense. In other transportation systems that primarily support local needs, the federal government's responsibility is to encourage the greatest possible decision-making and flexibility on the part of state and local governments to spend funds in ways that make the best sense for each community. Thus all levels of government have an important role in providing a balanced and coordinated transportation network.

In keeping with national transportation goals, the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act of 1976 has begun the task of removing regulatory constraints of the Interstate Commerce Commission on America's ailing railroads. Now we should carefully assess the need to remove many of the regulatory constraints imposed on the nation's airlines and motor carriers. Consumers pay too high a price for the artificial fare and rate structures imposed by federal regulations.

The great Interstate Highway System, initiated by President Eisenhower, has brought new freedom of travel to every American and must be completed and maintained. Our road network should always stress safety through better design as well as bridge maintenance and replacement.

We must also have a safe and efficient aviation system capable of responding to the air transportation needs of the future and of reducing exposure to aircraft noise. This includes airport development, navigational and safety facilities, and the design and adequate staffing of advanced air traffic control systems. In airplane use as in other modes of transportation, the impact on the physical environment must always be a basic consideration in federal decisions and such decisions should also include appraisals of impact on the economy. We deplore unfair treatment of United States airlines under foreign landing regulations.

Research must be continued to find safe, more fuelefficient automobile engines and airplanes; safer, faster rail service; and more convenient, less expensive urban transportation. Tax policies should be considered which would stimulate the development and installation of new energy sources in transportation, such as railroad electrification. The disorganization of a Democrat-controlled Congress frustrates the coordination of transportation policy. Currently there are more than 50 congressional subcommittees with independent jurisdiction in the transportation field. This hopelessly disjointed and disorganized approach must be reformed.

In keeping with the local goal setting in transportation, the Republican Party applauds the system under which state and local governments can divert funds from interstate highway mileage not essential to interstate commerce or national defense to other, more pressing community needs, such as urban mass transit.

We support the concept of a surface transportation block grant which would include the various highway and mass transit programs now in existence. This will provide local elected officials maximum flexibility in selecting and implementing the balanced transportation systems best suited to each locality. It will encompass both capital and operating subsidies for urban mass transit. It will eliminate red tape and over-regulation. We regret that the Democrat-controlled Congress has not adopted such reform.

ENERGY

In 1973, Americans were shocked to discover that a plentiful supply of energy could no longer be assumed. Unfortunately, the Democrat majority in Congress still has not responded to this clear and urgent warning. The United States is now consuming more imported oil than it was three years ago and our dependence on foreign sources has continued to increase to the point where we now import more than 40 % of our oil.

One fact should now be clear: We must reduce sharply our dependence on other nations for energy and strive to achieve energy independence at the earliest possible date. We cannot allow the economic destiny and international policy of the United States to be dictated by the sovereign powers that control major portions of the world's petroleum supplies.

Our approach toward energy self-sufficiency must involve both expansion of energy supply and improvement of energy efficiency. It must include elements that insure increased conservation at all levels of our society. It must also provide incentives for the exploration and development of domestic gas, oil, coal and uranium, and for expanded research and development in the use of solar, geothermal, co-generation, solid waste, wind, water, and other sources of energy.

We must use our non-renewable resources wisely while we develop alternative supplies for the future. Our standard of living is directly tied to a continued supply of energy resources. Without an adequate supply of energy, our entire economy will crumble.

Unwise government intervention in the marketplace has caused shortage of supply, unrealistic prices and increased dependence on foreign sources. We must immediately eliminate price controls on oil and newly-discovered natural gas in order to increase supply, and to provide the capital that is needed to finance further exploration and development of domestic hydrocarbon reserves.

Fair and realistic market prices will encourage sensible conservation efforts and establish priorities in the use of our resources, which over the long run will provide a secure supply at reasonable prices for all.

The nation's clear and present need is for vast amounts of new capital to finance exploration, discovery. refining, and delivery of currently usable forms of energy, including the use of coal as well as discovery and development of new sources. At this critical time, the Democrats have characteristically resorted to political demagoguery seeking short-term political gain at the expense of the long-term national interest. They object to the petroleum industry making any profit. The petroleum industry is an important segment of our economy and is entitled to reasonable profits to permit further exploration and development.

At the height of the energy crisis, the Republican Administration proposed a strong, balanced energy package directed at both expansion of supply and conservation of energy. The response from the Democrats in Congress was to inhibit expanded production through artifically set price and allocation controls, thereby preventing market forces from working to make energy expansion economically feasible.

Now, the Democrats proposed to dismember the American oil industry. We vigorously oppose such divestiture of oil companies—a move which would surely result in higher energy costs, inefficiency and undercapitalization of the industry.

Democrats have also proposed that the federal government compete with industry in energy development by creating a national oil company. We totally oppose this expensive, inefficient and wasteful intrusion into an area which is best handled by private enterprise.

The Democrats are playing politics with energy. If they are permitted to continue, we will pay a heavy price in lost energy and lost jobs during the decades ahead.

Immediate removal of counter-productive bureaucratic redtape will eliminate hindrances to the exploration and development of hydrocarbons and other energy resources. We will accelerate development of oil shale reserves, Alaskan petroleum and the leasing of the Outer Continental Shelf, always within the context of preserving the fullest possible protection for the environment. We will reduce complexity and delays involved in siting, licensing and the regulatory procedures affecting power generation facilities and refineries.

Coal, America's most abundant energy resource, is of inestimable value to the American people. It can provide the energy needed to bridge the gap between oil and gas and nuclear and other sources of energy. The uncertainties of governmental regulation regarding the mining, transportation and use of coal must be removed and a policy established which will assure that governmental restraints, other than proper environmental controls, do not prevent the use of coal. Mined lands must be returned to beneficial use.

Uranium offers the best intermediate solution to America's energy crisis. We support accelerated use of nuclear energy through processes that have been proven safe. Government research on the use of nuclear energy will be expanded to include perfecting a long-term solution to the problems of nuclear waste.

Among alternative future energy sources, fusion, with its unique potential for supplying unlimited clean energy and the promise of new methods of natural resource recovery, warrants continued emphasis in our national energy research program, and we support measures to assure adequate capital investment in the development of new energy sources.

Distance of the set of

4. (Photocoastic oppletent in discould probanistic attack burdet, followith only an end of the end operation in the individual and individual to a set of the end operation in the end of the end operation.

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

A clean and healthy natural environment is the rightful heritage of every American. In order to preserve this heritage, we will provide for proper development of resources, safeguards for clean air and water, and protection and enhancement of our recreation and scenic areas.

As our environmental sophistication grows, we must more clearly define the role of the federal government in environmental protection.

We believe that it is a national responsibility to support scientific and technological research and development to identify environmental problems and arrive at solutions.

We are in complete accord with the recent Supreme Court decision on air pollution that allows the level of government closest to the problem and the solution to establish and apply appropriate air quality standards.

We are proud of the progress that the current Republican Administration has made toward bringing pollution of water, land and air under control. We will meet the challenges that remain by stepping up efforts to perfect our understanding of pollutants and the means for reducing their effects. Moreover, as the nation develops new energy sources and technologies, we must insure that they meet safe environmental standards.

We renew our commitments to the development of additional water supplies by desalinization, and to the more efficient use and re-use of waters currently available.

We are determined to preserve land use planning as a unique responsibility of state and local government.

We take particular pride in the expanded use of the National Park system in recent years, and will provide for continued improvement of the national parks and historic sites.

We support establishment of a presidential panel, including representatives of environmental groups, industry, the scientific community and the public to assist in the development of national priorities on environmental and energy issues. This panel will hear and consider alternative policy recommendations set forth by all of the interested groups, and then develop solutions that represent the overall public interest on environmental and energy matters. One of this nation's greatest assets has been our abundant natural resources which have made possible our strong economic and strategic role in the world. We still have a wealth of resources, but they are not of infinite quantity. We must recognize that our material blessings stem from what we grow in the soil, take from the sea, or extract from the ground. We have a responsibility to future generations to conserve our non-renewable natural resources. Consistent with our needs, conservation should remain our national policy.

The vast land holdings of the federal government approximately one-third of our nation's area—are the lands from which much of our future production of minerals must come. Public lands must be maintained for multiple use management where such uses are compatible. Public land areas should not be closed to exploration for minerals or for mining without an overriding national interest.

We believe Americans want their resources developed properly, their environment kept clean and their recreational and scenic areas kept intact. We support appropriate measures to achieve these goals.

We also believe that Americans are realistic and recognize that the emphasis on environmental concerns must be brought into balance with the needs for industrial and economic growth so that we can continue to provide jobs for an ever-growing work force.

The United States possesses the most productive softwood forests in the world, as well as extensive hardwood forests. Demands for housing, fuel, paper, chemicals and a multitude of other such needs require that these renewable resources we managed wisely on both public and private forest lands—not only to meet these needs, but also to provide for soil conservation, wildlife habitats and recreation.

Recognizing that timber is a uniquely renewable resource, we will use all scientifically sound means to maximize sustained yield, including clear-cutting and replanting where appropriate. We urge the Congress to strengthen the National Forest Service so that it can realize its potential in becoming an effective participant in the reforestation program.

We will support broader use of resource recovery and recycling processes through removal of economic disincentives caused by unnecessary government regulation.

44

One of the important issues at stake in the United Nations Law of the Sea Conference is access to the mineral resources in and beneath the sea. Technology, developed by United States industry, is at hand which can unlock resources of petroleum, manganese, nickel, cobalt, copper and other minerals. We will safeguard the national interest in development and use of these resources.

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Every aspect of our domestic economy and wellbeing, our international competitive position, and national security is related to our past and present leadership in basic and applied research and the development of our technology. But there can be no complacency about our continued commitment to maintain this leadership position.

In the past, most of these accomplishments have been achieved through a unique partnership between government and industry. This must continue and be expanded in the future.

Because our society is so dependent upon the advancement of science and the development of technology, it is one of the areas where there must be a central federal policy. We support a national science policy that will foster the public-private partnership to insure that we maintain our leadership role.

The national space program plays a pioneer role in exploring the mysteries of our universe and we support its expansion.

We recognize that only when our technology is fully distributed can it be assimilated and used to increase our productivity and our standard of living. We will continue to encourage young Americans to study science and engineering.

Finally, we support new initiatives to utilize better the recoverable commodities from solid waste materials. We can no longer afford the luxury of a throw-away world. Recycling offers environmental benefits, economic expansion, resource conservation and energy savings. We support a policy which will reward recycling and economic incentives which will encourage its expansion.

ARTS AND HUMANITIES

The arts and humanities offer an opportunity for every American to become a participant in activities that add fullness, expression, challenge and joy to our daily lives. We Republicans consider the preservation of the rich cultural heritages of our various ethnic groups as a priority goal.

During our bicentennial year we have celebrated our anniversary with cultural activities as varied and colorful as our cultural heritage. The Republican Party is proud of its record of support to the arts and humanities during the last eight years. We are committed to steadily increase our support through the National Endowments for the nation's museums, theaters, orchestras, dance, opera and film centers as well as for individual artists and writers.

This upward trend in funding for the National Arts and Humanities Endowments deserves to continue. But Washington's presence should never dominate; it must remain limited to supporting and stimulating the artistic and cultural lives of each community.

We favor continued federal assistance to public broadcasting which provides us with creative educational and cultural alternatives. We recognize that public broadcasting is supported mainly through private sector contributions and commend this policy as the best insurance against political interference.

In 1976, we have seen vivid evidence that America's history lives throughout the nation. We support the continued commemoration throughout the bicentennial era by all Americans of those significant events between 1776 and 1789 which contributed to the creation of this nation. We support the efforts of both the public and private sectors, working in partnership, for the historic preservation of unique and irreplaceable historic sites and buildings.

We propose safeguarding the rights of performing artists in the copyright laws, providing tax relief to artists who contribute their own talents and art works for public enjoyment, and encouraging the use of one percent of the cost of government buildings for art works.

Much of the support of the arts and humanities comes from private philanthropy. This generosity should be encouraged by government policies that facilitate charitable donations.

FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY

As Republicans, we are proud that in this Platform we have urged tax reductions rather than increased government spending. With firm restraint on federal spending this Platform pledges that its proposals for tax changes—reductions, structural adjustments, differentials, simplifications and job-producing incentives—can all be achieved within the balanced federal budgets we also demand as vital to the interests of all Americans. Without such spending restraint, we cannot responsibly cut back taxes. We reaffirm our determination that any net reduction of revenues must be offset by reduced government spending.

FOREIGN POLICY, NATIONAL DEFENSE AND INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY

Prologue

The foreign policy of the United States defines the relationships we seek with the world as a whole, with friends and with adversaries. Our policy must be firmly rooted in principle and must clearly express our goals. Our principles cannot be subject to passing whim; they must be true, strong, consistent and enduring.

We pledge a realistic and principled foreign policy designed to meet the needs of the nation in the years ahead. The policies we pursue will require an informed consensus; the basis of that consensus will be the American people, whose most cherished desire is to live in freedom and peace, secure from war or threat of war.

The United States is a world power with worldwide interests and responsibilities. We pledge the continuation of efforts to revitalize our traditional alliances and to maintain close consultation with our friends. International cooperation and collaboration is required because we can achieve neither our most important objectives nor even our own security in the type of "splendid isolation" which is urged upon us by so many strident voices. The regrettable emergence of neo-isolationism often expressed in Congress and elsewhere is detrimental, we believe, to a sound foreign policy.

The branches of government can and should work together as the necessary prerequisite for a sound foreign policy. We lament the reckless intrusion of one branch into the clear constitutional prerogative of another. Confronted by so many challenges and so many crises, the United States must again speak with one voice, united in spirit and in fact. We reject partisan and ideological quarrels across party lines and urge Democrats to join with us to lay the foundations of a true bipartisan spirit. Let us speak for this country with one voice, so that our policies will not be misunderstood by our allies or our potential adversaries.

Effective policy must rest on premises which are understood and shared, and must be defined in terms of priorities. As the world has changed in a dynamic fashion, so too have our priorities and goals, and so too have the methods of debating and discussing our objectives. When we assumed Executive office eight years ago, we found the national security and foreign policy machinery in shambles. Last-minute reactions to crises were the practice. The National Security Council, so effective under President Eisenhower, had fallen into disuse. As an important first step, the National Security Council machinery was streamlined to cope with the problems of the moment and long-range planning. This restored process allows once again for exhaustive consideration of all the options from which a President must choose. Far from stifling internal debate and dissent as had been the practice in the past, Republican leadership now invites and stimulates evaluation of complex issues in an orderly decision-making process.

Republican leadership has also taken steps to report comprehensively its foreign policy and national security objectives. An annual "State of the World" message, designed to increase communication with the people and with Congress, has become a permanent part of Presidential practice.

A strong and effective program of global public diplomacy is a vital component of United States foreign policy. In an era of instant communications, the world is infinitely and forever smaller, and we must have the capacity to communicate to the world—to inform, to explain and to guard against accidental or willful distortion of Unied States policies.

Interdependence has become a fact of international life, linking our actions and policies with those of the world at large. The United States should reach out to other nations to enrich that interdependence. Republican leadership has demonstrated that recognition of the ties that bind us to our friends will serve our mutual interests in a creative fashion and will enhance the chances for world peace.

National Defense

A superior national defense is the fundamental condition for a secure America and for peace and freedom for the world. Military strength is the path to peace. A sound foreign policy must be rooted in a superior defense capability, and both must be perceived as a deterrent to aggression and supportive of our national interests.

The American people expect that their leaders will assure a national defense posture second to none. They know that planning for our national security must be a joint effort by the President and Congress. It cannot be the subject of partisan disputes. It should not be held hostage to domestic political adventurism.

A minimum guarantee to preserve freedom and insure against blackmail and threats, and in the face of growing Soviet military power, requires a period of sustained growth in our defense effort. In constant dollars, the present defense budget will no more than match the defense budget of 1964, the year before a Democrat Administration involved America so deeply in the Vietnam War. In 1975 Soviet defense programs exceeded ours in investment by 85 percent, exceeded ours in operating costs by 25 percent, and exceeded ours in research and development by 66 percent. The issue is whether our forces will be adequate to future challenges. We say they must be.

We must always achieve maximum value for each defense dollar spent. Along with the elimination of the draft and the creation, under a Republican President, of all-volunteer armed services, we have reduced the personnel requirements for support functions without affecting our basic posture. Today there are fewer Americans in the uniformed services than at any time since the fall of 1950. Substantial economies have been made in weapons procurement and we will continue to act in a prudent manner with our defense appropriations.

Our national defense effort will include the continuation of the major modernization program for our strategic missile and bomber forces, the development of a new intercontinental ballistic missile, a new missile launching submarine force and a modern bomber—the B-1—capable of penetrating the most sophisticated air defenses of the 1980's. These elements will comprise a deterrent of the first order.

We will increase our army to 16 divisions, reinforce our program of producing new tanks and other armored vehicles, and support the development of new, highly accurate precision weapons.

Our Navy, the guarantor of freedom of the seas, must have a major shipbuilding program, with an adequate balance between nuclear and non-nuclear ships. The composition of the fleet must be based on a realistic assessment of the threat we face, and must assure that no adversary will gain naval superiority.

An important modernization program for our tactical air forces is under way. We will require new fighters and interceptor aircraft for the Air Force, Navy and Marines. As a necessary component of our long-range strategy, we will produce and deploy the B-1 bomber in a timely manner, allowing us to retain air superiority.

Our investments in military research and development are of great importance to our future defense capabilities. We must not lose the vital momentum.

With increasing complexity of weapons, lead times for weapons systems are often as long as a decade, requiring careful planning and prudent financial decisions. An outstanding example of this process is the development and deployment of the cruise missile, which incorporates pinpoint precision by means of sophisticated guidance systems and is an exceptionally economical weapon to produce.

Security assistance programs are important to our allies and we will continue to strengthen their efforts at self-defense. The improvement of their capabilities can help to ensure that the world balance is not tipped against us and can also serve to lessen chances for direct U.S. involvement in remote conflicts.

As a vital component of our over-all national security posture, the United States must have the best intelligence system in the world. The effectiveness of the intelligence community must be restored, consonant with the reforms instituted by President Ford. We favor the creation of an independent oversight function by Congress and we will withstand partisan efforts to turn any part of our intelligence system into a political football. We will take every precaution to prevent the breakdown of security controls on sensitive intelligence information, endangering the lives of United States officials abroad, or affecting the ability of the President to act expeditiously whenever legitimate foreign policy and defense needs require it.

NATO and Europe

Fundamental to a stable, secure world is the continuation of our traditional alliances. The North Atlantic Treaty Organization, (NATO) now approaching the end of its third decade, remains healthy and vigorous.

The threat to our mutual security by a totalitarian power bent on expansion brought 15 nations together. The expression of our collective will to resist resulted in the creation and maintenance of a military deterrent which, while not without occasional strains, has served our vital interests well. Today that threat continues.

We have succeeded in extending our cooperation within NATO and have taken bold new steps in economic cooperation with our partners. Faced with a serious crisis in the energy field following the imposition of the oil boycott, we demonstrated that it was possible to coordinate our joint activities with the other NATO nations.

The economic strength of Western Europe has increased to the point where our NATO partners can now assume a larger share of the common defense; in response to our urging, our allies are demonstrating a greater willingness to do so. This is not the time to recommend a unilateral reduction of American military forces in Europe. We will, however, pursue the balanced reduction of forces in both Western and Eastern Europe, based on agreements which do not jeopardize the security of the Alliance. With our Alliance partners, we affirm that a strong NATO defense, based on a United States military presence, is vital to the defense of Western Europe.

Some of our NATO allies have experienced rapid and dynamic changes. We are encouraged by developments in the Iberian peninsula, where both Portugal and Spain now face more promising futures. Early consideration should be given to Spain's accession to NATO.

At the same time we would view with concern any political developments elsewhere in Europe which are destabilizing to NATO interests. We support the right of all nations to choose their leaders. Democracy and freedom are best served by ensuring that those fundamental rights are preserved and extended for future generations to choose in freedom.

The difficult problem of Cyprus, which separates our friends in Greece and Turkey, should be addressed and resolved by those two countries. The eastern flank of NATO requires restored cooperation there and, eventually, friendly relations between the two countries.

Republican leadership has strengthened this nation's good relations with the European Economic Community (EEC) in an age of increasing competition and potential irritations. We will maintain and strengthen the excellent relations we have achieved with the EEC. In the final analysis, the NATO Alliance will be as effective as our will and determination, as well as that of our allies, to support it. The function of collective security is to deter wars and, if necessary, to fight and win those wars not successfully deterred. Our vigilance is especially required during periods of prolonged relaxation of tensions with our adversaries because we cannot permit ourselves to accept words and promises as a substitute for deeds. We are determined that the NATO Alliance shall not be lulled into a false sense of security. It can and must respond vigorously when called upon to act.

Asia and the Pacific

The United States has vital interests in the entire Pacific Basin and those interests lie foremost in Asian tranquility and stability.

The experience of ending direct American involvement in a difficult and costly war initiated during Democrat Administrations has taught us a great deal about how we ought to define our interests in this part of the world. The United States is indisputably a Pacific power. We have sought to express our interests in the area through strengthening existing friendly ties and creating new ones.

Japan will remain the main pillar of our Asian policy. We have helped to provide the framework, over the course of thirty years, for the development of the Japanese economy, which has risen to second place among free world nations. This nation, without natural resources, has maximized its greatest resource, the Japanese people, to achieve one of the world's most significant economic advances. We will continue our policy of close consultation and cooperation with this valued friend. We have succeeded in establishing an exceptional relationship with Japan. Our long-range goals of stability and economic cooperation are identical, forming the essential strength of a relationship which both countries seek actively to deepen.

With respect to the Republic of Korea, a nation with which we have had traditionally close ties and whose economy has grown rapidly in recent years, we shall continue our policy of military and economic assistance. United States troops will be maintained in Korea so long as there exists the possibility of renewed aggression from North Korea. Time has not dimmed our memories of the sudden assault against South Korea. We reaffirm the commitment of the United States to the territorial integrity and the sovereignty of the Republic of Korea. Simultaneously we encourage the Governments of South Korea and North Korea to institute domestic policy initiatives leading to the extension of basic human rights.

When Republicans assumed executive office in 1969, we were confronted with a war in Vietnam involving more than 500,000 United States troops, and to which we had committed billions of dollars and our national honor and prestige. It was in the spirit of bipartisan support for Presidential foreign policy initiatives, inaugurated in the postwar era by Senator Arthur Vandenberg, that most Republicans supported the United States commitment to assist South Vietnam resist Communist-sponsored aggression. The human cost to us was great; more than 55,000 Americans died in that conflict, and more than 300,000 were wounded.

A policy of patient, persistent and principled negotiations extricated the United States from that illfated far with the expectation that peace would prevail. The refusal of the Democrat-controlled Congress to give support to Presidential requests for military aid to the beleaguered nations of South Vietnam, Cambodia and Laos, coupled with sustained military assaults by the Communists in gross violation of the Paris Peace Accords, brought about the collapse of those nations and the subjugation of their people to totalitarian rule.

We recognize that there is a wide divergence of opinion concerning Vietnam, but we pledge that American troops will never again be committed for the purpose of our own defense, or the defense of those to whom we are committed by treaty of other solemn agreements, without the clear purpose of achieving our stated diplomatic and military objectives.

We must achieve the return of all Americans who may be held in Southeast Asia, and a full accounting for those listed as Missing in Action. We strongly urge continued consultation between the President and the National League of Families of American Prisoners and Missing in Southeast Asia. This country owes at least this much to all of these courageous people who have anguished so long over this matter. To this end, and to underscore our top priority commitment to the families of these POWs and MIAs, we recommend, among other actions, the establishment of a presidential task force headed by a special presidential representative. We condemn the inhumane and criminal retributions which have taken place in Cambodia, where mass executions and forced resettlements have been imposed on innocent civilians.

The important economic developments taking place in Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines and other Asian countries, will lead to much improved living standards for the people there. We reaffirm our friendship with these nations. Equally, our relationships with Australia and New Zealand are historic and important to us; they have never been better and provide a firm base on which to build.

United States-Chinese Relations

A development of significance for the future of Asia and for the world came to fruition in 1972 as our communications were restored with the People's Republic of China. This event has allowed us to initiate dialogue with the leaders of a quarter of the earth's population, and trade channels with the People's Republic have been opened, leading to benefits for each side.

The People's Republic of China can and will play an increasingly important role in world affairs. We shall seek to engage the People's Republic of China in an expanded network of contacts and trade. Such a process cannot realistically proceed at a forced or incautious pace; the measured but steady growth of our relations best serves our interests. We do not ignore the profound differences in our respective philosophies, governmental institutions, policies and views on individual liberty, and we are hopeful that basic human rights will be extended to the Chinese people. What is truly fundamental is that we have established regular working channels with the People's Republic of China and that this process can form an important contribution to world peace.

Our friendly relations with one great power should not be construed as a challenge to any other nation, large or small. The United States government, while engaged in a normalization of relations with the People's Republic of China, will continue to support the freedom and independence of our friend and ally, the Republic of China, and its 16 million people. The United States will fulfill and keep its commitments, such as the mutual defense treaty, with the Republic of China.

The Americas

The relations of the United States with the Americas are of vital and immediate importance. How we conduct our affairs with our neighbors to the North and South will continue to be a priority. In the recent past our attention has at times been diverted to more distant parts of the world. There can be no sensible alternative to close relationships and understanding among the nations of this hemisphere.

It is time for a series of new departures in our relations with Canada. Canada is our most important trading partner, and we are hers. We, as Americans, feel a deep affinity for our Canadian friends, and we have much at stake in the development of closer relationships based on mutual understanding and complete equality.

To our neighbors in Mexico, Central America and South America, we also say that we wish the opportunity to expand our dialogue. The needs of our friends are great, but this must not serve as an obstacle for a concerted effort to work together more closely. The United States has taken steps to adjust tariffs so as to maximize access to our markets. We recognize that our neighbors place no value on complex and cumbersome aid schemes; they see self-help, modernization, and expanded trade as the main sources of economic progress. We will work with them to define specific steps that we can take to help them achieve greater economic strength, and to advance our mutual interests.

By continuing its policies of exporting subversion and violence, Cuba remains outside the Inter-American family of nations. We condemn attempts by the Cuban dictatorship to intervene in the affairs of other nations; and, as long as such conduct continues, it shall remain ineligible for admission to the Organization of American States.

We shall continue to share the aspirations of the Cuban people to regain their liberty. We insist that decent and humane conditions be maintained in the treatment of political prisoners in the Cuban jails, and we will seek arrangements to allow international entities, such as the International Red Cross, to investigate and monitor the conditions in those jails.

The present Panama Canal Treaty provides that the United States has jurisdictional rights in the Canal Zone as "if it were the sovereign." The United States intends that the Panama Canal be preserved as an international waterway for the ships of all nations. This secure access is enhanced by a relationship which commands the respect of Americans and Panamanians and benefits the people of both countries. In any talks with Panama, however, the United States negotiators should in no way cede, dilute, forfeit, negotiate or transfer any rights, power, authority, jurisdiction, territory or property that are necessary for the protection and security of the United States and the entire Western Hemisphere.

We reaffirm our faith in the ability of the Organization of American States, which remains a valuable means of inter-American consultation.

The Middle East

The preservation of peace and stability in the Middle East is a paramount concern. The efforts of two Republican Administrations, summoning diplomatic and political skills, have been directed toward reduction of tensions and toward avoiding flashpoints which could serve as an excuse for yet another round of conflict between Israel and the Arab countries.

Our commitment to Israel is fundamental and enduring. We have honored and will continue to honor that commitment in every way—politically, economically and by providing the military aid that Israel requires to remain strong enough to deter any potential aggression. Forty percent of all United States' aid that Israel has received since its creation in 1948 has come in the last two fiscal years, as a result of Republican initiatives. Our policy must remain one of decisive support for the security and integrity of Israel.

An equally important component of our commitment to Israel lies in continuing our efforts to secure a just and durable peace for all nations in that complex region. Our efforts have succeeded, for the first time since the creation of the state of Israel, in moving toward a negotiated peace settlement which would serve the interests and the security of all nations in the Middle East. Peace in the Middle East now requires face-to-face, direct negotiations between the states involved with the recognition of safe, secure and defensible borders for Israel.

At the same time, Republican Administrations have succeeded in reestablishing communication with the Arab countries, and have made extensive progress in our diplomatic and commercial relations with the more moderate Arab nations.

As a consequence of the Middle East conflict of 1973, the petroleum producing states imposed an embargo on the export of oil to most of the advanced industrial countries. We have succeeded in creating numerous cooperative mechanisms to protect ourselves, working in concert with our allies, against any future embargoes. The United States would view any attempt to reimpose an embargo as an essentially hostile act. We will oppose discriminatory practices, included boycotts of any type.

Because we have such fundamental interests in the Middle East, it will be our policy to continue our efforts to maintain the balance of power in the Mediterranean region. Our adversaries must recognize that we will not permit a weakening of our defenses or any attempt to disturb valued Alliance relationships in the Eastern Mediterranean.

We shall continue to support peace initiatives in the civil war in Lebanon; United States envoys engaged in precisely such an initiative were murdered, and we express our sorrow for their untimely deaths and for all other dedicated government employees who have been slain elsewhere while in service to their country. In Lebanon, we stand ready to provide food, medical and other humanitarian assistance.

Africa

The United States has always supported the process of self-determination in Africa. Our friendship for the African countries is expressed in support for continued peaceful economic development, expansion of trade, humanitarian relief efforts and our belief that the entire continent should be free from outside military intervention. Millions of Americans recognize their historical and cultural ties with Africa and express their desire that United States policy toward Africa is a matter of great importance.

We support all forces which promote negotiated settlements and racial peace. We shall continue to deplore all violence and terrorism and to urge all concerned that the rights of tribal, ethnic and racial minorities be guaranteed through workable safeguards. Our policy is to strength the forces of moderation, recognizing that solutions to African problems will not come quickly. The peoples of Africa can coexist in security, work together in freedom and harmony, and strive together to secure their prosperity. We hope that the Organization of African Unity will be able to achieve mature and stable relationships within Africa and abroad. The interests of peace and security in Africa are best served by the absence of arms and greater concentration on peaceful development. We reserve the right to maintain the balance by extending our support to nations facing a threat from Soviet-supplied states and from Soviet weapons.

United States-Soviet Relations

American foreign policy must be based upon a realistic assessment of the Communist challenge in the world. It is clear that the perimeters of freedom continue to shrink throughout the world in the face of the Communist challenge. Since 1917, totalitarian Communism has managed through brute force, not through the free electoral process, to bring an increasingly substantial portion of the world's land area and peoples under its domination. To illustrate, most recently South Vietnam, Cambodia, and Laos have fallen under the control of Communist dictatorships, and in that part of the world the Communist pressure mounts against Thailand, the Republic of China, and Republic of Korea. In Africa. Communist Cuban forces, brazenly assisted by the Soviet Union. have recently imposed a Communist dictatorship upon the people of Angola. Other countries in Africa and throughout the world generally await similar fates. These are the realities of world power in our time. The United States is thoroughly justified in having based its foreign policy upon these realities.

Thirty years ago relations between United States and the Soviet Union were in a phase of great difficulty, leading to the tensions of the Cold War era. Although there have been changes in this crucial superpower relationship, there remain fundamental and profound differences between us. Republican Presidents, while acknowledging the depth of the gulf which separates our free society from Soviet society, have sought methodically to isolate and develop those areas of our relations which would serve to lessen tension and reduce the chance of unwanted conflict.

In a world beset by countless opportunities for discord and armed conflict, the relationship between the United States and the Soviet Union is critically important; on it rests the hopes of the world for peace. We offer a policy that maintains our fundamental strength and demonstrates our steadfast determination to prevent aggressive use of Soviet power. The role of a responsible, participating Congress in maintaining this diplomatic and military posture is critical to success. The United States must remain a loyal and dependable ally, and must be prepared to carry out commitments and to demonstrate a willingness to act. Resistance to open aggression, such as the Soviet-sponsored Cuban intervention in Angola, must not be allowed to become the subject of a partisan debate, nor can it be allowed to become an unchallenged and established pattern of international behavior, lest our credibility and deterrent strength be greatly diminished.

Soviet military power has grown rapidly in recent years, and while we shall prevent a military imbalance or a sudden shift in the global balance of power, we shall also diligently explore with the Soviet Union new ways to reduce tensions and to arrive at mutually beneficial and self-enforcing agreements in all fields of international activity. Important steps have been taken to limit strategic nuclear arms. The Vladivostok Agreement of November 1974 placed a ceiling on the strategic forces of both the United States and the Soviet Union. Further negotiations in arms control are continuing. We shall not agree for the sake of agreement; on the contrary, we will make sure that any agreements yield fundamental benefits to our national security.

As an example of hard-headed bargaining, our success in concluding agreements limiting the size of peaceful nuclear explosions and nuclear weapons tests will, for the first time, permit the United States to conduct on-site inspections in the Soviet Union itself. This important step can now be measured in practical terms. All such agreements must stand the test of verification. An agreement that does not provide this safeguard is worse than no agreement at all.

We support the consolidation of joint efforts with our allies to verify that our policies regarding the transfer of technology to the Soviet Union and its allies are in concert and that consultation will be designed to preclude the sale of those technology-intensive products to the Soviet Union by the United States and our allies which will directly or indirectly jeopardize our national security.

Our trade in non-strategic areas creates jobs here at home, substantially improves our balance-of-payments position, and can contribute to an improved political climate in the world. The overseas sale of our agricultural products benefits American farmers and consumers. To guard against any sudden shift in domestic prices as the consequence of unannounced purchases, we have instituted strict reporting procedures and other treaty safeguards. We shall not permit concessional sales of agricultural products to the Soviet Union, nor shall we permit the Soviet Union or others to determine our agricultural export policies by irregular and unpredictable purchases.

The United States and the Soviet Union remain ideological competitors. We do not shrink from such a challenge; rather, we welcome the opportunity to demonstrate that our way of life is inherently preferable to regimentation and government-enforced orthodoxy. We shall expect the Soviet Union to implement the United Nations Declaration on Human Rights and the Helsinki Agreements, which guarantee the conditions for the free interchange of information and the right to emigrate, including emigration of Soviet Jews, Christians, Moslems and others who wish to join close relatives abroad. In this spirit we shall expect the immediate end of all forms of harassment, including imprisonment and military service, aimed at preventing such emigration. America must take a firm stand to bring about liberalization of emigration policy in countries which limit or prohibit free emigration. Governments which enjoy the confidence of their people need have no fear of cultural, intellectual or press freedom.

Our support for the people of Central and Eastern Europe to achieve self-determination will continue. Their ability to choose their future is of great importance to peace and stability. We favor increasing contacts between Eastern and Western Europe and support the increasing economic ties of all the countries of Europe. We strongly support the continuation of the Voice of America, Radio Free Europe and Radio Liberty with adequate appropriations. Strict reciprocity must govern our diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union. We express our concern for the safety of our diplomatic representatives in the Soviet Union, and we insist that practices such as microwave transmissions directed at the United States Embassy be terminated immediately.

Thus our relations with the Soviet Union will be guided by solid principles. We will maintain our strategic and conventional forces; we will oppose the deployment of Soviet power for unilateral advantages or political and territorial expansion; we will never tolerate a shift against us in the strategic balance; and we will remain firm in the face of pressure, while at the same time expressing our willingness to work on the basis of strict reciprocity toward new agreements which will help achieve peace and stability.

International Cooperation

Strong support for international cooperation in all fields has been a hallmark of United States international policy for many decades. Two Republican Administrations have strengthened agencies of international cooperation not only because of our humanitarian concern for others, but also because it serves United States interests to be a conscientious member of the world community.

The political character of the United Nations has become complex. With 144 sovereign members, the U.N. experiences problems associated with a large, sometimes cumbersome and diverse body. We seek to accommodate to these changes in the spirit of friendly concern, but when the United Nations becomes arrayed against the vital interest of any of its member states on ideological or other narrow grounds, the very principles of the organization are threatened. The United States does not wish to dictate to the U.N., yet we do have every right to expect and insist that scrupulous care be given to the rights of all members. Steamroller techniques for advancing discriminatory actions will be opposed. Actions such as the malicious attempt to depict Zionism as a form of racism are inconsistent with the objectives of the United Nations and are repugnant to the United States. The United States will continue to be a firm supporter and defender of any nation subjected to such outrageous assaults. We will not accept ideological abuses of the United States.

In the many areas of international cooperation which benefit the average American—elimination of terrorism, peacekeeping, non-proliferation of nuclear weapons, termination of the international drug trade, and orderly use of ocean resources—we pledge to build new international structures of cooperation. At the same time, we shall seek to insure that the cost of such new structures, as well as the cost of existing structures, are more equitably shared among participating nations. In the continued tradition of American concern for the quality of human life everywhere, we shall give vigorous support to the non-political work of the specialized agencies of the United Nations which deal with such areas as nutrition and disaster relief for the world's poor and disadvantaged.

The United States should withdraw promptly from the International Labor Organization if that body fails to stop its increasing politicization.

Eight years ago we pledged to eliminate waste and to make more business-like the administration of United States foreign aid programs. We have endeavored to fulfull these pledges. Our foreign economic assistance programs are now being operated efficiently with emphasis on helping others to help themselves, on food production and rural development, on health programs and sound population planning assistance, and on development of human resources.

We have sought to encourage others, including the oil producing countries, to assume a larger share of the burden of assistance. We shall continue our efforts to secure adequate sources of financing for economic projects in emerging countries.

The world's oceans, with their vast resources, must become areas of extended cooperation. We favor a successful conclusion to the Law of the Sea Conference provided it will suitably protect legitimate national interests, freedom of the seas and responsible use of the seas. We are determined to maintain the right of free and unmolested passage for ships of all nations on the high seas and in international waterways.

We favor an extension of the territorial sea from three to twelve miles, and we favor in principle the creation of a 200-mile economic zone in which coastal states would have exclusive rights to explore and develop natural resources.

We strongly condemn illegal corporate payments made at home and abroad. To eliminate illegal payments to foreign officials by American corporations, we support passage of President Ford's proposed legislation and the OECD Declaration on Investment setting forth reasonable guidelines for business conduct.

The growth of civilian nuclear technology, and the rising demand for nuclear power as an alternative to increasingly costly fossil fuel resources, combine to require our recognition of the potential dangers associated with such developments. All nations must work to assure that agreements and treaties currently governing nuclear technology and nuclear exports are carefully monitored. We shall work to devise new multilateral policies governing the export of sensitive nuclear technologies.

International Economic Policy

The tumultuous events of the past several years in the world economy were an enormous challenge to our creativity and to our capacity for leadership. We have emerged from this difficult period in a new position in the world, and we have directed and guided a sound recovery.

To assure the permanence of our own prosperity, we must work with others, demonstrating our leadership and the vitality of our economy. Together with the industrial democracies, we must ensure steady, noninflationary growth, based on expanded international cooperation.

The Republican Administration will cooperate fully in strengthening the international trade and monetary system, which provides the foundation for our prosperity and that of all nations. We shall bargain hard to remove barriers to an open economic system, and we shall oppose new restrictions to trade. We shall continue to represent vigorously our nation's economic interests in the trade negotiations taking place in Geneva, guard against protectionism, and insist that the principles of fair trade be scrupulously observed. When industries and jobs are adversely affected by foreign competition, adjustment assistance under the Trade Act of 1974 is made available. This Act must be under continuous review to ascertain that it reflects changing circumstances.

The Republican Party believes that cooperation in the energy field is indispensable to international stability. Most of the industrial democracies and the less developed countries are increasingly dependent on imported oil, which causes them to be politically, economically and strategically vulnerable. Through the establishment of the International Energy Agency, steps have been taken to expand consumer cooperation. We shall also continue the dialogue with the oil producing countries.

We shall continue to work closely with the lessdeveloped countries to promote their economic growth. Those countries will be encouraged to enter into mutually beneficial trade relationships with us that contribute to world peace. To achieve this, we must strengthen the confidence of the major industrial countries as they take part in discussions with less-developed countries. There is no reason for us to be defensive; our combined assets can be used in a coordinated strategy to make our influence effective. We will not yield to threats or confrontational politics.

While we shall support a global increase of investment in natural resources of all types, we shall also oppose the replacement of the free market mechanism by cartels, price-fixing arrangements or commodity agreements. We shall continue policies designed to assure free market consumers abroad that the United States will remain a dependable supplier of agricultural commodities.

Conclusion

The American people can be proud of our nation's achievements in foreign policy over the past eight years.

We are at peace.

We are strong.

We re-emphasize the importance of our ties with the nations of the Americas.

Our relations with allies in the Atlantic community and with Japan have never been closer.

Significant progress has been made toward a just and durable settlement in the Middle East.

We have sought negotiation rather than confrontation with our adversaries, while maintaining our strategic deterrent.

The world economic recovery, led by the United States, is producing sustainable growth.

In this year of our nation's bicentennial, the American people have confidence in themselves and are optimistic about the future.

We, the Republican Party, proudly submit our record and our Platform to you.

August 17, 1976

1976 COMMITTEE ON RESOLUTIONS

Governor Robert D. Ray (Iowa), Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON PEACE, SECURITY AND FOREIGN POLICY

Senator Roman L. Hruska (Neb.), Chairman Congressman David C. Treen (La.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES IN A FREE SOCIETY

State Senator Charles Pickering (Miss.), Chairman Mrs. Dorothy Zumwalt (Okla.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES

Dr. Marjorie Parker (D.C.), Chairman Assemblyman Mike D. Antonovich (Calif.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL CONCERNS AND THE CONSENT OF THE GOVERNED

Congresswoman Marjorie S. Holt (Md.), Chairman Mr. Bartlett S. Fleming (Ariz.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE, BUSINESS, ECONOMICS: GROWTH AND PROGRESS

Congressman Barber B. Conable, Jr. (N.Y.), Chairman Former Congressman Thomas B. Curtis (Mo.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON COMMUNITY AND NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Mayor Ralph J. Perk (Ohio), Chairman Congressman John B. Anderson (Ill.), Co-Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON CONSERVATION, ENERGY, NATURAL RESOURCES AND THE ENVIRONMENT

State Senator Mary George (Hawaii), Chairman Mr. Richard D. Obenshain (Va.), Co-Chairman

ALABAMA-Albert Lee Smith, Jr., Frances Wideman ALASKA-Clifford J. Groh. Yvonne M. Alford ARIZONA-Bartlett S. Fleming, Beatrice M. Strong ARKANSAS-William H. Dunklin, Marguerite Turner CALIFORNIA-Mike D. Antonovich, Lorelei C. Kinder COLORADO—Joseph Coors, Mona Hinman CONNECTICUT—Lawrence J. DeNardis, Joan Rader DELAWARE—James H. Baxter, Jr., Lavinia R. Hodgden DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA-William H. Cooper, Marjorie H. Parker FLORIDA-Fred W. Streetman, Jr., Ginny Dinkins GEORGIA-Joseph J. Tribble, Leona Norton GUAM-T. Frank Flores HAWAII-V. Thomas Rice, Mary George IDAHO-J. Wilson Steen, Leora Day ILLINOIS-John B. Anderson, Ruth R. Hooper INDIANA—John C. Hart, Betty J. Rendel IOWA-Robert D. Ray, Joan Lipsky KANSAS-Robert Dole, Neta A. Pollom KENTUCKY-Charles R. Coy, Elizabeth Thomas LOUISIANA-David C. Treen, Beverly McLean MAINE-George W. Wood III, Henrietta Page Crane

MARYLAND-George A. Price, Marjorie S. Holt MARTILAND—George A. Price, Marjorie S. Hoit MASSACHUSETTS—Silvio O. Conte, Margaret B. Hunter MICHIGAN—L. William Seidman, Elizabeth D. Durbin MINNESOTA—Douglas M. Head, Mary Forsythe MISSISSIPPI—Charles W. Pickering, Bobbie S. Thomas MISSOURI—Thomas B. Curtis, Rosemary Wilcox MONTANA—M. C. Bowman, Ada Nash NEBRASKA-Roman L. Hruska, Kay Orr NEVADA-Reese H. Taylor, Jr., Peggy Wutke NEW HAMPSHIRE—Alf E. Jacobson, Ruth L. Griffin NEW JERSEY-Edwin B. Forsythe, Millicent Fenwick NEW MEXICO-Keith R. Baltz, Gayle Irick NEW YORK-Barber B. Conable, Jr., Leslie A. Maeby NORTH CAROLINA-John P. East, Betty Lou Johnson NORTH DAKOTA-Allan C. Young, Gerridee Wheeler OHIO-Ralph J. Perk, Jo Ann Davidson OKLAHOMA-Lew Ward, Dorothy Zumwalt OREGON-Joseph L. Usry, Mary Alice Ford PENNSYLVANIA—Hugh Scott, Martha Bell Schoeninger PUERTO RICO-Mario F. Gaztambide, Jr., Sarita Gallardo de Gonzalez RHODE ISLAND-Richard J. Israel, Louise S. Mauran SOUTH CAROLINA-Carroll A. Campbell, Jr., Ruth C. Glover SOUTH DAKOTA—Gary J. Enright, Barbara Bates Gunderson TENNESSEE—Harold H. Sterling, Jr., Faye Chiles TEXAS—James E. Lyon, Barbara G. Culver UTAH-William A. Stevenson, Georgia B. Peterson VERMONT—John K. Wu, Carolyn R. Miller VIRGINIA—Richard D. Obenshain, Bonnie L. Paul VIRGIN ISLANDS—Philip C. Clark WASHINGTON—Dennis H. Dunn, Shirley G. Miller

WEST VIRGINIA—James D. Hinkle, Louise Leonard WISCONSIN—Lawrence W. Durning, Ann F. Peckham WYOMING—James L. Thompson, Ruth F. Adam

> Arthur L. Peterson Executive Director

John F. Bibby Deputy Director

William Evans Parliamentarian

Arthur L. Singleton Assistant Parliamentarian

Edwin L. Harper Candidate Liaison Officer

Maury Van Nostrand Reading Clerk

EDITORIAL STAFF

Stephen Hess, Editor-in-Chief Richard V. Allen, Editorial Coordinator—Foreign Policy and Defense John K. Meagher, Editorial Coordinator—Domestic Affairs

ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF

Janet L. Van Note, Director of Administration Margaretta W. Brede, Assistant to the Executive Director James E. Stiner, Press Secretary Katherine A. Hope, Administrative Assistant

RESEARCH STAFF

Everett E. Bierman William A. Taggert Dan M. Martin Martha H. Phillips Andrew R. Supplee Richard H. Prendergast Edwin J. Feulner, Jr.